
ition de
ans une

que la
lter soit

urussion
avis des
sirait le
epresen-

Mr. HAKIM (Lebanon) had no objection if,
as he understood, the Ad Hoc Political Committee
was being treated on the same basis as the First
Committee.

The proposal to adjourn was adopted by 3S
uotes to 5 with 2 abstentions.

The meeting rose at 5.35 p.m.

M. HAKIM (Liban) ne souleve pas d'objection
s'il a bien compris que la Commission speciale
est traitee sur un pied d'egalite avec la Premiere
Commission.

Par, 3S uois contre 5, avec 2 abstentions, la
proposition d'ajournement est adoptee.

La seance est levee a 17 h. 35.

la ques
jour de

nt, i1 y
mte une
ertu de
ant que
nrverne
ationali
1 de la
servirait
diverses

ose a la
e qu'elle

d'ajour
le repre-

ntine de
~solution

tendant
~solution

ant d'Is
rnement
rle l'As
're 1947

l .. •

FORTY·FIFrH MEETING

Held at La/le Success, New York,
on Thursday, S May 1949 at 10.30 a/m.

Chairman: General Carlos P. ROMuLo
(Philippines) .

54. Application of Israel for admission
to membership in the United Na
tions (A/818) (continued)

Mr. C.MALJK (Lebanon) took the floor in or
der to present the case for his draft resolution
AIAC.24/62. He pointed out that the Com
mittee was not dealing merely with the admis
sion of one more State to membership in the
United Nations; it was a matter of exceptional
significance. The decision taken on it would di
rectly affect millions of human beings.

An aura of sacredness had always surrounded
Palestine'; It had been hallowed for Jews, Christ
ians and Moslems by the preaching of the prophets,
by countless pilgrimages and by the presence
there at one time of the Redeemer of Mankind.

QUARANTE-CINQUIEME SEANCE

Tenue a Lake Success, New-York,
le jeudi 5 mai 1949, a10 h. 30.

President: Le general Carlos P. ROMuLo
( Philippines) .

54. Demande d'admission d'Israel it
l'Organisation des Nations Unies
(A/818) (suite)

M. C. MALIK (Liban) prend la parole pour
presenter son projet de resolution (AIAC.24/62).
11 signale que la question dont la Commission est
saisie ne traite pas uniquement de l'admission d'un
nouveau Membre a 1'Organisation des Nations
Unies; il s'agit d'une question d'une importance
exceptionnelle. La decision que la Commission
prendra it ce sujet aura des consequences directes
pour des millions d'etres humains.

La Palestine a toujours baigne dans une atmos
phere de saintete, aux yeux des Israelites, des chre
tiens et des musulmans ; eUe a ete sanctifiee par
les predications des prophetes, par d'innombra
bles pelerinages et par la presence en ces lieux du
Sauveur de l'humanite.

La decision fondamentale que doit prendre l'As
semblee porte sur la question de savoir si eUe ad
mettra Israel comme Membre de 1'Organisation
au cours de la session actuelle. M. Malik exa
minera cette question independammentde la po
sition prise dans le passe par son Gouvernement
au sujet de la creation d'un Etat juif en Palestine
et sans prejuger toute decision qu'il pourra pren
dre a1'avenir au sujet d'Israel.

L'Assemblee generale doit determiner en tout
premier lieu le critere sur lequel se fondera sa
decision d'admettre Israel. Ordinairement, les
Etats candidats doivent simplement se conformer
aux conditions definies a l'Article 4 de la Charte.
Toutefois, etant donne qu'Israel a ete reellement
cree par la resolution 181 (II') adoptee par I'As
semblee generale en novembre 1947, l'Assemblee
doit examiner d'abord la question fondamentale
de savoir si le nouvel Etat, clans sa structure ac
tuelle, se conforme aux decisions que l'Organisa
tion des Nations U nies elle-meme a prises ante
rieurement a son sujet.

Ace propos, M. Malik cite un passage de la
section F de la premiere partie de la resolution de
l'Assemblee en date du 29 novembre 1947 stipu
lant qu'il conviendra d'examiner avec bienveil
lance les demandes d'admission de l'Etat juif ou
de l'Etat arabe lorsque l'independance de l'un ou
l'autre de ces Etats, telle qu'elle est prevue dans

In that connexion, Mr. Malik quoted from sec
tion F, part I of the Assembly's resolution of
29 November 1947, which stated that sympathetic
consideration should be given to the application
for membership of either' the Jewish or the Arab
State, when the independence of either as envis
aged in the plan had become effective and the

The General Assembly had to determine first
of all the criterion on which to base its decision
to admit Israel. Ordinarily, applicant States were
merely required to comply with the conditions
laid down in Article 4 of the Charter. However,
in so far as Israel had actually been created in
November 1947 by a resolution of the iGeneral
Assembly (181 (II)) ,. the Assembly had first to
consider the cardinal question of whether the new
State in its present structure conformed to the
previous decisions affecting it which had been
adopted by the United Nations itself.

The fundamental decision to be taken by the
Assembly was whether to admit Israel to mem
bership at the present session. Mr. Malik would
consider that issue irrespectively of the position
adopted by his Government in the past on the
creation of a Jewish State in Palestine and with
out prejudice to any decision it might take with
regard to Israel in the future.

219
i~i~~~iijllj!$!"~~~~~~~'~"Jr~~~J~I~.. ~~~~"''''~••~•••••••••_ •••

t charge
Ire d'un
M. Pelt,
Departe
raux et
politique
>remiere

groupe
strement
u steno
entre les
rpres de
dum in
trictions, ,
iosees a
iques, i1
s rendus
que spe-

general
motion

au sujet

pose de .

tions, la



.'I31IIRfll'.!'] 1,. ".1 aT I tPF ill
;~. declaration and undertaking as envisaged In the

plan had been signed by either of them.

J

I
~~

I~·:.··.,···~·l.,..'f
1/
~

.,~

IT ,

le plan, sera devenue effective et lorsque la de
claration et l'engagement prevus dans ce plan au
ront ete signes par l'un ou l'autre de ces Etats.

Si la structure actuelle d'Israel n'est pas con
forme a ces conditions, deux voies sont ouvertes
it l'Assernblee : soit subordonner l'admission d'Is
rael it l'acceptation des recommandations origina- ,
les de I'Organisation des Nations Unies, soit ad
mettre cet Etat en depit du fait qu'il n'observe
pas ces recommandatiotis et par la-memeIes an
nule ou les rejette. Si l'Assemblee adopte cette
deuxieme solution, elle doit etre pleinement cons
ciente des consequences qu' elle aura sur les futu
res decisions de la meme nature et de ses reper
cussions sur la situation generale dans le Proche
Orient. En effet, la structure actuelle d'Israel n'est
pas conforme aux desirs exprimes dans les reso
tions prises precedemment par l'Assernblee. Israel
n'est pas cet Etat juif dont I'existence a ete ap
prouvee par l'Assemblee en novembre 1947, et
pour lequel la resolution 194 (Ill) de l'Assem
blee generale en date du 11 decembre 1948 a fixe
des conditions complementaires auxquelles il doit
se soumettre, 11 y a des differences fondamentales
que l'on ne peut ignorer ou admettre comme des
facteurs secondaires. L'admission d'Israel, en de
pit de ces differences essentielles et tres importan
tes, equivaudrait a annuler les decisions anterieu
res de l'Assernblee, it decevoir les aspirations
humaines .exprimees par ·les porte-parole les plus
illustres des grandes religions et a porter atteinte
aux sentiments spirituels les plus profonds d'une
grande partie de l'humanite..

L'Etat d'Israel, sous sa forme actuelle, a deja
enfreint directement, sur trois points importants
au moins, les recommandations anterieures de
l'Organisation des Nations Unies: par son atti
tude en ce qui concerne le probleme des refugies
arabes, la delimitation de ses frontieres territoria
les et la question de Jerusalem.

L'Organisation des Nations Unies n'a cer
tainementpas voulu que l'Etat juif se debar
rasse de ses ressortissants arabes. Au contraire,
la section C de la premiere partie de la resolution
adoptee par l'Assemblee en 1947 a explicitement
prevu la protection des droits des minorites dans
chacun des deux Etats. Par exemple, elle a inter
dit I'expropriation d'un terrain possede par un
Arabe dans l'Etat juif, sauf pour cause d'utilite
publique, et dans ce cas apres indemnisation du
proprietaire. Or, en realite, 90 pour cent des Arabes
d'Israel ont ete chasses du pays par les operations
militaires; ils ont vete forces de chercher refuge
dans les Etats arabes voisins, its ont ete reduits
a la misere et aux privations, et Israel les a em
peches de rentrer dans leurs foyers. Leurs mai
sons et leurs proprietes ont ete saisies et sont
occupees par des milliers d'immigrants juifs venus
d'Europe. . .

Ce n'est que recemment que l'Organisation des
Nations Unies a pris des mesures pour soulager
temporairement le sort des refugies arabes et en
visager leur reinstallation clans d'autres pays. 11
ne s'agit pas cependant d'un problerne humani
taire; il n'est pas question de secours temporaire
et de reinstallation. Ce qu'il faut reellement, c'est
trouver le moyen d'empecher qu'une rancune pro
fonde envers leur prochain ne renaisse dans le
coeur de ceux qui ont ete deracines comme dans le
coeur de leurs enfants et eviter que cette rancune
ne gagne les autorites des pays clans lesquels ils

If the present structure of Israel did not con
form to those conditions, two courses. were open
to the Assembly: either to make the membership
of Israel dependent upon acceptance of the orig
inal recommendations of the United Nations, or
to admit it notwithstanding its failure to comply
'with those recommendations, thereby cancelling or
revoking them. Should the Assembly adopt the
latter course, it must be fully aware of the impli
cations of such a course for future decisions of a
similar nature and of its effect on the general
situation in the Near East, for the present struc
ture of Israel did not in fact conform to the
wishes expressed in the previous resolutions of the
Assembly; it was not the same as the Jewish
State, the existence of which had been sanctioned
by that body in November 1947 and for which
additional requirements had been laid down in
the General Assemblv resolution of 11 December
1948 (194 (Ill)). The differences were funda
mental and could not be dismissed or condoned as
secondary factors. Admission of Israel notwith
standing those .essential and highly significant dif
ferences would be tantamount to the revocation of
the previous Assembly decisions, the frustration
of the human aspirations expressed by the highest
spokesmen of great religions and the violation
of the deepest spiritual sentiments of a large
portion of mankind.

The State of Israel, in its present form, directly
contravened the previous recommendations of the
United Nations in at least three important re
spects: in its attitude on the problem of Arab
refugees, on the delimitation of its territorial
boundaries, and on the question of Jerusalem.

The United Nations had certainly not in
tended that the Jewish State should rid itself of
its Arab citizens. On the contrary, section C
of part I of the Assembly's 1947 resolution had
explicitly provided guarantees of minority rights
in each of the two States. For example, it had
prohibited the expropriation of land owned by an
Arab In the Jewish State except for public pur
poses, and then only upon payment of fullcom
pensation. Yet the fact was that 90 per cent of the
Arab population of Israel had been driven outside
its boundaries by military operations, had been
forced to seek refuge in neighbouring Arab terri
tories, had been reduced to misery and destitu
tion, and had been prevented by Israel from re
turning to their homes. Their homes and property
had been seized and were being used by thou
sands of European Jewish immigrants.

The United Nations had only recently taken
measures to relieve temporarily the plight of the
Arab refugees and to arrange for their resettle
ment in other countries. However, the problem
was not a humanitarian one; it was not one of
temporary relief and resettlement. The real need
was to find means to prevent the growth in the
hearts of those uprooted people and their children
of deep resentment toward their fellow men and
the spread of that resentment to the body politic
of the countries in which they had taken refuge.
Surely the Jews, who claimed that they had al-

.,



la de
tan au
~tats.

as con
uvertes
m d'ls..
irigina- ,
soit ad..
observe
les an..
te cette
rt cons..
~s futu..
i reper
Proche
,el n'est
es reso
~. Israel
ete ap
947, et
Assem
~ a fixe
i il doit
lentales
ime des
en de..

.portan..
nterieu..
irations
les plus
atteinte
.s d'une

a deja
oortants
rres de
on atti..
refugies
rritoria..

L'a cer-
debar..

mtraire,
solution
:itement
:es dans
a inter
par un
d'utilite
.tion du
i Arabes
erations
. refuge

reduits
s a em
irs mai
et sont

fs venus

tion des
soulager
:5 et en..
pays. 11
humani..
nporaire
nt, c'est
me pro-
dans le

~ dans le
rancune
quels ils

I

•
ways been an uprooted people whose homelessness
had driven them to fight for their ancient home,
could not in all justice and conscience seek to
remedy that uprooting by inflicting it upon others.
The admission of Israel at the present stage, be
fore it had accepted the principle of repatriation
of the Arab refugees and clearly stated its posi
tion, could only strengthen the refugees' resent
ment and engender nihilism. The continued dis
persion of one million of them could be expected
to give rise to serious political, social, economic
and spiritual disturbances in the Near East and
in the whole world for generations to come. While
there were some who welcomed and promoted
such disturbances, those who genuinely hated
disorder .and anarchy should make every effort
to prevent such a destructive wave of social un
rest.

That the General Assembly had not been un
aware of the real significance of the problem of
Arab refugees had been demonstrated in its reso
lution of 11 December 1948, which provided for
the return at the earliest practicable date of those
refugees who wished to return,and for compensa
tion for loss or damage to property of those who
did not choose to do so. That had been a step
in the right direction which could now be ignored,
inasmuch as the situation of the refugees had not
changed since that date. Yet the second progress
report of the Conciliation Commission for Pal
estine (A/838) showed that the Prime Minister
of Israel, Mr. Ben-Gurion, had emphatically re
jected the principle of repatriation and had made
it clear that the solution of the major part of the
question of refugees lay in their resettlement in
Arab States. Obviously that had not been. the
view of the General Assembly less than five
months earlier.

Moreover, subsequent actions of the Israeli
Government had proved even more revealing. The
thousands of immigrants entering Palestine were
occupying property which had been expropriated
from the Arab inhabitants. They were intending
to establish permanent residence there. Thus, the
Israeli Government was attempting to create a
de facto situation to support its contention that it
would be difficult to apply the principle of re
patriation of Arab refugees. Clearly, such a claim
contravened the General Assembly's resolution.

The admission of Israel at the present time,
before the Israeli authorities had pledged them
sel yes to implement the principle of repatriation
and to respect the fundamental rights implied in
the Assembly's decisions, would be tantamount to
a virtual condemnation of one million Arabs to
permanent exile. There was no precedent in his
tory comparable to the forced exile of almost the
entire Arab population of Israel. Surely no dele
gation would endorse such action if it were fully
aware of its implications. It supplied a stimulus
to subversion and anarchy. Every vote in favour
of the admission of Israel was thus ~ctually a
vote to- perpetuate the physical and spiritual in
security of the entire original population of the
State of Israel.

Mr. Matik was not discussing the admission of
Israel in principle; his remarks concerned the

ont cherche asile. Les Juifs, qui pretendent qu'ils
ont toujours ete un peuple banni, pousse par
l'exil a. lutter pour retrouver leur ancienne patrie,
ne peuvent en toute justice et en toute conscience
chercher un remede a. cet exit en l'infligeant aux
autres. L'admission d'Israel a l'heure actuelle,
avant qu'il n'ait accepte le principe du rapatrie
ment des refugies arabes et defini c1airement son
attitude, ne pourrait qu'accroitre la rancune des
refugies et engendrer le chaos. On peut s'attendre
ace que, si un million d'Arabes restent disperses,
cette dispersion provoque, pendant plusieurs gene
rations, des troubles politiques, sociaux, econo
miques et spirituels tres graves dans le Proche
Orient et dans le monde entier. Bien qu'il puisse
y avoir des gens pour se rejouir de ces troubles et .
les encourager, ceux qui eprouvent une haine sin
cere pour le desordre et l'anarchie devraient faire
tous leurs efforts pour arreter cette vague destruc
tive de malaise social.

La resolution du 11 decembre 1948 montre que
l'Assemblee generale se rendait compte de l'im
portance reelie duprobleme des refugies arahes.
Cette resolution prevoit que les refugies qui le
desirent seront autorisesa. rentrer dans Ieurs
foyers le plus tot possible et que, a titre de com
pensation pour les biens perdus ou endommages,
des indemnites seront versees a ceux qui decident
de ne pas rentrer, On a fait un pas dans la bonne
direction, sur lequel on saurait d'autant moins re
venir aujourd'hui qu'on n'a constateaucune modi
fication dans la situation des refugies. Toutefois, le
deuxieme rapport de la Commission de concilia
tion pour la Palestine sur l'evolution de la situa
tion (A/838) indique que M. Ben-Gurion, Pre
mier Ministre d'Israel, a rejete categoriquement
le principe du rapatriement. et a fait clairement
comprendre que le probleme essentiel des re(ugies
se trouverait resolu par la reinstallation de ces re
fugies dans les Etats arabes. 11 est evident que
telle n'etait pas l'opinion de l'Assemblee generale
it y a moins de cinq mois,

En outre, les mesures prises par la suite par le
Gouvernement israelien sont encore plus revela
trices. Les milliers d'immigrants entrant en Pa
lestine occupent les proprietes des Arabes expro
pries. Ils se proposent de s'y etablir d'une facon
permanente. Le Gouvernement israelien essaie de'
creer ainsi une situation de fait dont it tirerait
parti pour affirmer qu'il est difficile de se confor
mer au principe du rapatriement des refugies
arabes. Pareille affirmation contrevient manifeste-

. ment a. la resolution de I'Assemblee.generale,

L'admission d'Israel a l'heure actuelle, avant
que les autorites israeliennes ne se soient enga
gees a. appliquer le principe du rapatriement des
refugies et a respecter leurs droits fondamentaux
conforrnement aux decisions de l'Assemblee gene
rale, reviendrait a condammer virtuellement un
million d'Arabes a un exit permanent. 11 n'y a
pas dans l'histoire de precedent comparable a l'exil
force de la presque totalite de la population arabe
d'Israel. 11 est certain qu'aucune delegation n'ap
prouverait pareillemesure si elle etait pleinement
consciente de ses consequences. Ce serait une in
citation au desordre et a I'anarchie. Tout vote en
faveur de I'admission d'Israel auraitreellement
comme consequence de prolonger l'insecurite ma
terielle et spirituelle de toute la population autoch
tone de l'Etat d'Israel.

M. Malik ne discute pas le principe de l'admis
sion d'Israel : ses observations concernent l'ad-



I,

admission of that State in the .present circum
stances. He did not underestimate the philan
thropic contributions to the alleviation of the plight
of the refugees by some States which favoured
Israel's admission, and the Arab world was pro
foundly grateful for them. Yet, temporary relief
was not sufficient compensation for the uprooting
of a million people. To admit Israel >to the United
Nations as a reward for its defiance of the As
sembly's wishes was conducive to the perpetuation
of the homelessness of the Arab refugees. Nothing
had occurred since those wishes had been ex
plicitly made clear to cause the Assembly to revise
or revoke its previous instructions.

A decision to admit Israel at the present session
would entail serious consequences in still another
field: that of the delimitation of the territorial
boundaries of the new State. It would be remem
bered that the 1947 Assembly resolution had al
lotted the whole of Western Galilee and the Arab
towns of Jaffa, Lydda and Ramleh, as well as other
Arab areas, to the proposed Arab State. However,
the State of Israel now controlled all those terri
tories and there was every indication that the Is
raeli authorities had no intention of giving them
up. Immigrant Jews were being established there
exactly as they were being settled in the rest of
Israel. It was difficult to distinguish between what
the authorities considered part of Israel and what
they considered merely temporarily-occupied ter
ritory, if such a qualification existed at all in their
thinking. To admit Israel before it had given up
territories which had not been allotted to it by the
Assembly's decision was equivalent to giving it a
blank cheque to draw its frontiers wherever it
wished. In effect, it meant condoning, by a solemn
act of the United Nations, the right of conquest.
Moreover, such a decision would be prejudicial to
the negotiations on the demarcation of boundaries
now in progress under the supervision of the
Conciliation Commission.

Of all the territories now occupied by Israel in
violation of the specific terms of the Assembly's
resolution, the City of Jerusalem and its vicinity
held a special position and therefore required
special treatment. In that respect, Israel had com
mitted its most serious violation of the will of the
Assembly by encroaching not only upon territories
which had been allotted to the Arabs, but upon
what might be termed United Nations territory.
The Israeli occupation of the greater part of the
New City of Jerusalem was preventing the estab
lishment of the "international regime" prescribed
by the Assembly for the whole area of Jerusalem
and its vicinity. While it could claim, rightly or
wrongly, that Western Galilee, Jaffa, Lydda and
Ramleh had been annexed as a result of war
gains, there was no justification for the annexa
tion of part of the proposed international territory
of Jerusalem. Moreover, that action seriously
threatened the religious rights of the Christian
and Moslem communities there, and went counter
to the expressed desires of the highest spokesmen
for all Christian Churches and Moslem denomi
nations. Thus the Assembly's recommendations
had been violated not only in respect of the legal,

missfQn de cet Etat dans .les circonstances actuel
les. 11 ne sous-estime pas l'importance des efforts
philanthropiques faits par certains Etats favora
bles a l'admission d'Israel pour soulager le sort
des refugies, et le monde arabe leur en est profon
dement reconnaissant. Toutefois, un secours tem
poraire ne constitue pas une compensation suffi
sante pour l'exil d'un million d'etres humains.
L'admission d'Israel a l'Organisation des Nations
Unies pour le recompenser d'agir a l'encontre des
voeux de l'Assemblee aurait pour consequence de
prolonger l'exil des refugies arabes. Depuis que
l'Assemblee a explicitement formule ses recom
mandations, rien ne s'est produit qui puisse l'ame
ner a modifier ou a annuler ses .instructions pre
cedentes.

Une decision tendant a admettre Israel au cours
de la presente session aurait des consequences gra
ves dans un autre domaine encore, a savoir la
delimitation des frontieres territoriates du nouvel
Etat. On se souviendra que la resolution adoptee
par l'Assemblee generate en 1947 avait attribue
it l'Etat arabe, dont on envisageait la creation,
toute la Galilee occidentaleet les villes arabes de
Jaffa, Lydda et Ramleh, ainsi que d'autres regions
arabes. Toutefois, l'Etat d'Israel controle main
tenant tous ces territoires et il y a tout lieu de
croire que les autorites israeliennes n'ont pas
l'intention de s'en dessaisir. Les immigrants juifs
s'y installent de la meme maniere qu'ils se sont
installes dans le reste d'Israel. 11 est difficilede
faire une distinction entre cc que les autorites con
siderent comme faisant partie d'Israel et ce qu'el
les considerent comme territoires simplement oc
cupes a titre temporaire, si toutefois cette dis
tinction existe dans leur esprit. Admettre Israel
avant qu'il n'ait rendu les territoires qui ne lui
ont pas ete attribues en vertu de la decision de
l'Assemblee .generale equivaudrait a lui dormer
carte blanche pour tracer ses frontieres la OU it
le voudrait. En realite, ce serait approuver le droit
de conquete par un acte solennel de l'Organisa
tion des Nations Unies. Pareille decision serait
egalement prejudiciable aux negociations relatives
a la delimitation des frontieres qui sont actuelle
ment en cours sous le controle de la Commission
de conciliation.

De tous les territoires qu'Israel occupe mainte
nant, en violation des dispositions precises de la
resolution de l'Assemblee, la Ville de Jerusalem
et ses environs ont une place a part et exigent un
examen particulier. A cet egard, Israel a commis .
l'infraction la plus grave a la volonte de l'Assem
blee, En effet, il a empiete non seulement sur des
territoires qui avaient ete attribues aux Arabes,
mais encore sur ce que l'on pourrait appeler le
territoire des Nations Unies. L'occupation israe
lienne de la plus grandepartie de la nouvelle ville
de Jerusalem empeche l'etablissementdu "regime
international" prevu par l'Assemblee pour toute
la region de Jerusalem et ses environs. Bien qu'il
pretende, a tortou a raison, que la Galilee occi
dentale, Jaffa, Lydda et Ramleh ont ete annexees
a la suite de victoires militaires, it ne peut en au
cune facon justifier l'annexion d'une partie du
territoiredont I'internationalisation est envisagee.
En outre, son action constitue une menace tres
grave aux droits religieux des cornmunautes chre
tiennes et musulmanes dans cette region et va a
l'encontre des desirs exprimes par les porte-parole
les plus qualifies de toutes les Eglises chretiennes
et de toutes les confessions musulmanes. Aussi les



actuel
efforts

favora
le sort
profon-
rs tem
n suffi
umains,
~ations

itre des
ence de
uis que
recom-
~ l'ame
ns pre-

u cours
:es gra
ivoir la
nouvel

adoptee
attribue
reation,
abes de
regi~ns
~ main
lieu de
mt pas
its juifs
se sont
icile de
tes con
e qu'el
lent oc
tte dis
~ Israel
, ne lui
sion de
donner

la ou il
le droit
rganisa
1 serait
'elatives
ictuelle
mission

mainte
~s de la
rusalem
gent u.n
commis :
'Assern
sur des
Arabes,
peler le
n israe
~lle ville
"regime
rr toute
en qu'il
ee occi
nnexees
ten au
utie du
visagee,
ace tres
es chre
et va a
e-parole
etiennes
uissi les

1:
\

,
political, social and economic guarantees they pro
vided, but also in so far .as they specifically re
quired the observance of religious rights and
principles.

It would be recalled that the 1947 General As
sembly resolution had set upthree political bodies:
a J evvish State, an Arab State and a special inter
national regime for the City of Jerusalem. That
last body was of more than purely political sig
nificance, and it was doubtful that those delega
tions which had approved the resolution as a whole
would have done so had it not included the pro
visions on the internationalization of Jerusalem.
Those provisions remained the only expressed
wish of the United Nations. In its subsequent reso
lution of 11 December 1948, the Assembly had
reaffirmed that wish by stating that the Jerusalem
area ..should be accorded special and separate
treatment froin. the rest of Palestine and should
he placed under effective United Nations control".
Thus the intention of the United Nations was
unequivocal,

The intentions and wishes of the representatives
of the two other world religions concerned with
the. fate of Jerusalem was no less clear. His Holi
ness, the Pope, while remaining aloof from the
political aspects of the question, had expressed the,
desires of the whole Catholic world in two En
cyclicals issued within the .last six months. In the
Papal encyclical itIn Multiplicibus" issued on 23
October 1948, he had expressed confidence that

~ the United Nations would consider it a better
guarantee of the safety of the Holy Places and
sanctuaries in the present circumstances, "to give
an international character to Jerusalem and its
vicinity", and to assure the "right of free access
to the Holy Places ••. and the freedom of religion
and respect for customs and religious traditions".
In the encyclical itRedemptoris N ostri", issued
on 15 April 1949, Pope Pius XII had recalled
his earlier communication concerning the inter
national status of Jerusalem and had appealed for
a settlement of the question which would "accord
to jerusalem and its surroundings a juridical status
whose stability under the present circumstances
can only be adequately assured by a united effort
of nations that love peace and respect the rights
of others". He had also asked for guarantees of
immunity and protection to all the Holy Places
outside of Jerusalem itself. His concern had been
echoed by a statement from three United States
Cardinals and in a letter from the Archbishop of
Canterbury reasserting that If]erusalem, new and
old . . . must remain under international control".

To the Moslems, Jerusalem was no less holy,
not only because of the Moslem Holy Places, but
because of the sites held sacred by Christians and
Jews as well, for Islam, in a sense, tried to build
upon the foundation of Christianity and'J udaism.
Yet, there was no certainty that some representa
tives of the Jewish faith did not wish to see the
Holy City transformed into a secular Zionist
State, rather than have it come under an inter-

recommandations de l'Assemblee generale ont ete
violees ; non seulement Israel n'a fourni aucune
des garanties juridiques, politiqu~s, socia~es et ~co
nomiques queces recommendations prevoyaient,
mais encore it n'a pas accorde aux droits etaux
principes religieux le respect qu'elles exigeaient
expressement.

On n'a pas oublie que la resolution adoptee par
l'Assemblee generale en 1947 avait cree trois en
tites politiques : un Etat juif, un Etat arabe et la
Ville de Jerusalem sous regime international spe
cial. Cette derniere creation presentait plus qu'une
signification purement politique, et il est douteux
que les delegations qui ont approuve la resolution
dans son ensemble l'eussent fait si cette resolution,
n'avait pas contenu des dispositions prevoyant l'in
ternationalisation de Jerusalem. Ces dispositions
restent le seul desir formel de l'Organisation des
Nations Unies. Dans sa resolution ulterieure du
11 decernbre 1948, I'Assemblee, en effet, a de nou
veau exprime ce desir en declarant que la region
de Jerusalem "devrait jouir d'un traitement par
ticulier et distinct de celui des autres regions de
Palestine et devrait etre placee sous le controle
effectif des Nations Unies". Les intentions de
l'Organisation des Nations Unies ne pretent done
pas a l'equivoque:

Quant aux intentions et <lUX vceux des repre
sentants des deux autres religions mondiales
qu'interesse le sort de Jerusalem, its ne sont pas
moins clairs. Tout en s'abstenant de faire etat
des aspects politiques de la question, Sa Saintete
le Pape a exprime les voeux de l'ensemble du
monde catholique dans deux encycliques qu'il a
adressees aux fideles au cours des six derniers
mois. Dans son encyclique "In Multiplicibus" du
23 octobre 1948, il s'est declare convaincu que
I'Organisation des Nations Unies estimerait la
securite des Lieux saints et des sanctuaires plus
assuree, dans les circonstances actuelles, si "Jeru
salem et ses environs etaient internationalises" et
si 1'0n garantissait "le droit de libre acces aux
Lieux saints . . . et la liberte du culte, ainsi que
le respect des coutumes et des traditions religieu
ses", Dans l'encyclique "Redemptoris nostri",
parue le 15 avril 1949, Pie XII a rappele sa de
claration anterieure concernant le statut interna
tional de Jerusalem et a lance un appel en faveur
d'un reglement de la question qui "accorderait un
statut juridique a Jerusalem et a ses environs,
statut dont la stabilite, dans les circonstances ac
tuelles, ne peut etre convenablement assuree que
par 1'effort convergent des nationseprises de paix
et respectueuses du droit d'autrui". Il a egalement
demande des garanties d'immunite et de protec
tion pour tous les Lieux saints exterieurs a Jeru
salem proprement dit. Ses preoccupations ont
trouve un echo dans une declaration emanant de
trois cardinanx des Etats-Unis et dans une let
tre de l'archeveque de Canterhury, qui reaffirme
que "tant la partie ancienne que la partie neuve
de Jerusalem . " . doivent rester sous controle
international".

Jerusa.lem n'est pas moins sacree aux yeux des
musulmans, et ce, non seulement en raison des
Lieux saints musulmans, rnais egalement a cause
des Lieux qui sont sacres aux yeux des chretiens
et des juifs, car I'islam, dans un sens, s'est edifi~
sur les fondations du christianisme et du judaisme.
Cependant, rien ne garantit que certains represen
tants de la foi juive ne desirent pas voir la Ville
sainte transforrnee en Etat sioniste laique, plutot



. ,

que de la laisser placer sous un regime internatio
. nal destine precisement it proteger ses Lieux saints
et it preserver ses libertes religieuses.

Admettre Israel dans l'Organisation des Na
tions Unies en ce moment, malgre le rejet cate
gorique par les autorites d'Israel des recomman
dations de l'Assemblee concernant l'internationa
lisation de Jerusalem, serait agir contrairement
aux vues reflechies et aux desirs explicites des
plus eminents representants du christianisme et
de l'islam .. Le rejet de ces recommandations ~ar

Israel a f~te rapporte officiellement par la Commis
sion de conciliation dans son deuxieme rapport
sur l'evolution de la situation. Le Premier Minis
tre Ben-Gurion a notifie it la Commission que,
lorsque le Gouvernement d'Israel serait sur un
pied d'egalite avec les Etats arabes, "it avait l'in
tention de demander it l'Assemblee generale ide
revenir sur la partie de la resolution relative it
Jerusalem". 11 a, en outre, declare que, tout en
acceptant sans reserve que les Lieux saints de la
VilIe fussent places sous un regime' international,
it ne pourrait pas, "pour des raisons d'ordre po
litique, historique et religieux", accepter l'etablis
sement .d'un regime international pour la Ville de
Jerusalem. En toute equite, it faut rappeler aux
autorites israeliennes que, pour des raisons abso
lument identiques, les Etats chretiens et musul
mans du monde ne peuvent pas accepter l'an
nexion d'une partie de Jerusalem par Israel.

Aux recommandations de l'Organisation des
Nations Unies et aux plaidoyers des chefsreli
gieux du monde en faveur de l'internationalisa
tion de Jerusalem, Israel a repondu en se prepa
rant it proclamer Jerusalem la capitale de l'Etat
d'Israel, Les recentes declarations de M. Weiz
mann, President de l'Etat d'Israel, concernant les
Lieux saints ne changent rien au fond de la ques
tion. M. Weizmann precise ce que les autorites
israeliennes sont disposees it faire, mais il ne dit
pas ce qu'elles ne veulent pas faire; or, en cela, ces
autorites s'opposent aux decisions de l'Assemblee,
de meme qu'aux desirs du monde chretien et du
monde musulman. Elles sont, en effet, disposees it
accepter des garanties internationales pour la pro
tection des Lieux saints, mais non pour la Ville et
la communaute de Jerusalem en tant que telles.
jamais M. Weizmann n'a pris l'engagement que
son Gouvernement collaborerait it la mise en
oeuvre du plan de l'Assemblee pour l'internatio
nalisation de Jerusalem. Cependant, tant la reso
lution de l'Organisation des Nations Unies que
les declarations du pape Pie XII ont fait une dis
tinction tres nette entre les Lieux saints dissemi
nes dans toute la Palestine, d'une part, et la Ville
de J~rusalem et ses environs, d'autre part. La
position officielle d'Israel, que M. Ben-Gurion a
nettement et .categoriquement definie dans ses
conversations avec la Commission de conciliation,
consiste toujours a rejeter l'idee de l'internationa
lisation .de Jerusalem, contrairement aux deman
desinstantes de l'Assemblee et des representants
des mondes chretien et musulman.

Le plan de l'Organisation des Nations Unies,
qui a recu l'approbation des chefs religieux les
plus eminents, d'une part, et la position tres nette
des autorites israeliennes en ce qui concerne Je
rusalem, d'autre part, sont irreconciliables. Au
cun compromis ne saurait les rapprocher et it est
egalement impossible qu'on feigne d'ignorer ces
divergences de vues ou qu'on y passe outre. Le di
lemme ne peut etre resolu que si l'Etat d'Israel

The admission of Israel to .the United Nations
at the present time, notwithstanding the emphatic
rejection by the Israeli authorities of the As
sembly's recommendations on the !nternationali~a

tion of Jerusalem, w~uldcon~t1tute ,an act!o?
taken despite the considered VIews and explicit
desires of the highest representatives of Christian
ity and Islam. Israel's rejection had been reported
officially bv the Conciliation Commission in its
second progress report. Prime Minister Ben
Gurion had informed the Commission that when
it was in a position to do so on an equal footing
with the Arab States, Israel "intended to request
the General Assembly to revise part of that reso
lution concerning Jerusalem". He had further
stated that while his Government accepted without
reservation an international regime for the Holy
Places, it could not "for historical, political and
religious reasons" accept the establishment of an
international regime for the City of Jerusalem.
In all fairness, the Israeli authorities had to be
reminded that for the very same reasons, the
Christian and Moslem States of the world could
not accept the annexation of part of Jerusalem
by Israel.

224

national regime designed precisely to protect its
Holy Places and preserve its religious freedoms.

Israel's reply to' the United Nations recom
mendations and to the pleas of the world's reli
gious leaders for the internationalization of Jeru
salem had been to take steps to .prepare for its
being declared the capital of the State of Israel.
The recent statements of the President of Israel,
Dr. Weizmann, regarding the Holy Places did not
change the fundamental issue. While Dr. Weiz
mann had affirmed what the Israeli authorities
were prepared to do, he had not stated what they
were not prepared to do, and therein they stood
against the Assembly's decisions and the wishes
of the Christian and Moslem world. They were
prepared, in effect, to accept international safe
guards for the protection of the Holy Places, but
not of the city and community of Jerusalem as
such. Dr. Weizmann had never pledged his Gov
ernment's co-operation in implementing the As..
sembly's plan for internationalization of the city.
Yet, both the United Nationsresolution and the
statements of Pope Pius had clearly distinguished
between the Holy Places all over Palestine and
the City of Jerusalem and its vicinity. The official
position of Israel, as clearly and emphatically ex
pressed by Mr. Ben-Gurion in his conversations
with' the Conciliation Commission, was still a re
jection of theintemationalization of Jerusalem,
contrary to the insistent demands of the Assembly
and the representatives of the Christian and Mos
lem worlds.

The differences in respect of Jerusalem between
the LTnited Nations plan, on the one hand, which
had been supported by the most eminent religious
leaders, and the clear position of the Israeli au
thorities on the other, were irreconcilable. They
could not be. settled by compromise; nor could
they complacently be ignored or dismiuec:l. The
dilemma could be resolved only if Israel were to
yield to the wishes of the highest civil and reli-

:r

·
··';······1·····

~!

"
l

:,:f



225

cede aux desirs des plus eminents representants
civils et religieux de l'humaniteou si le monde
accepte de renoncer a ses droits Iegitimes, en of
frant a Israel le privilege de decider du sort de
sa capitale religieuse. Admettre Israel sur-le
champ dans l'Organisation des Nations Unies,
avant que cet Etat n'ait prouve qu'il est decide ~~
contribuer a la mise en oeuvre du plan d'interna
tionalisation de Jerusalem, serait livrer la Ville
sainte de trois grandes religions mondiales aux'
representants seculiers de l'une d'entre elIes.
L'Assemblee generale s'inclinerait .ainsi, une fois
de plus, devant un fait accompli. Tout vote favo
rable it. l'admission d'Israel, qui serait donne au
cours de la session actuelIe, serait un vote autori
sant Israel a decider seuI de l'avenir de Jerusalem.
Mais Jerusalem n'appartient pas, it. la difference
de toutes les autres villesdu monde, a ses seuls
habitants. Elle appartient encore moins aux forces
qui l'occupent actuellement. Tous les chretiens,
tous les musulmans et tous les juifs peuvent re
vendiquet Jerusalem et sont fondes a veiller a la
preservation de leurs droits, non seulement dans
les "Lieux saints dissemines dans toute la Pales
tine", mais aussi dans la Ville elle-meme.

M. Malik tient a faire une declaration impor..
tante au sujet de la position des Etats arabes a
l'egard de l'internationalisation de Jerusalem. Cer
tains journaux, que ce soit par malveillance ou
dans une bonne intention, ont pretendu que les
Arabes ne desiraient pas I'internationalisation de
la Ville sainte. Or, M. Malik est autorise par son
Gouvernement a declarer qu'ils desirent bien un
tel regime et que tous les rapports qui pretendent
le contraire, ne sont pas conformes aux faits.

M. Malik assure les membres de la Commis
sion que, s'il a souligne avec une telle insistance
l'argument religieux, ce n'etait pas a des fins po
litiques. It faut se garder de faire peu de cas de
cet argument, sous pretexte que le Liban serait

.politiquement interesse it la question dont est sai
sie l'Assemblee. C'est precisement parce que M.
Malik est un Arabe et un chretien qu'il croit etre
particulierement qualifie pour exposer le cote re
ligieux du probleme, C'est it un Arabe chretien
qu'il revenait de presenter le point de vue des
cnretiens du monde entier.

La decision que l'Assemblee generale est invitee
it prendre determiners .le sort d'un million de
refugies arabes et de la. capitale religieuse du
monde. Elle interesse directement le prestige des
autorites religieuses qui proclament que Jerusa
lem est un Lieu sacre pour leur foi, de meme que
le prestige de I'Organisation des Nations Unies
qui decouvre maintenant que l'Etat qu'elle a cree
brave systematiquement ses desirs,

Aucun evenement d'importance, de nature a
affecter la situation des refugies arabes et l'inter
nationalisation de Jerusalem, ne s'est produit de
puis que l'Assemblee a adopte, le 11 decembre
1948, la resolution qui traite de ces questions. La
mise en eeuvre de cette decision n'a fait aucun
progres dans les cinq mois qui se sont ecoules
depuis son adoption. Israel n'a donne aucune as
surance au sujet de l'acceptation du principe du
rapatriement ou de l'intemationalisation; toute
fois, ce sont des necessites qui restent imperieuses.
La vigueur avec laquelle les divers blocs religieux
insistent pour que la Ville sainte obtienne des
sauvegardes par l'internationalisation n'a pas di
minue. Assurement, la necessite de regler d'une

The decision which the General Assembly was
called upon to make would determine the fate of
a million Arab refugees and of the religious cap
ital of the world. It would directly influence the
dignity of the religious authorities which claimed
Jerusalem to be holy to their faiths, as well as
that of the United Nations which now found -that
the State it had created was systematically defying
its wishes.

There had been no major developments affect
ing the situation of the Arab refugees and the
establishment of an international regime for Jeru
salem since the Assembly had adopted the resolu
tion governing those questions on 11 December
1948. No progress had been made in the imple
mentation of that decision in the five months that
had elapsed since its endorsement. Israel had
given no assurances on the acceptance of the prin
ciple of repatriation or internationalization; yet
those needs remained imperative. The various re
ligious groups had not diminished their insistence
on the provision of safeguards for the Holy City
through internationalization. Surely the satisfac
tory settlement of the human and religious aspects

. Mr. Malik wished to make an important state
ment concerning the position of the Arab States in
respect of the internationalization of Jerusalem.
Certain newspapers, maliciously or with good in
tention, had reported that the Arabs did not
favour the internationalization of the Holy City.
Mr. Matik was authorized by his Government to
state that they did favour such a regime and that
all accounts to the contrary were not in conform
ity with the facts.

Mr. Malik assured the members of the Com
mittee that the emphasis he had given to the
religious argument had not been designed for
political ends. That argument should not be dis
counted on the grounds that Lebanon was politic
ally interested in the question before the Assemly.
Precisely because he was an Arab and a Christian,
Mr. Malik felt that he was particularly welt fitted
to present the religious aspects of the question.
It remained for a Christian Arab to put forward
the views cherished by Christians the world over.

gious representatives of mankind or if the :world
were to renounce its legitimate rights. and offer to
Israel the privilege of determining the fate of .man
kind's religious capital. To admit Israel to the
United Nations forthwith, before it had demon
strated its willingness to implement the plan for
the internationalization of Jerusalem, was to sur
render the Holy City of three great world reli
gions to the secular representatives of one of them.
Thus the General Assembly would be bowing to
another fait accompli. Every vote in .favour of its
admission during the present session was a vote to
allow Israel to settle the future of Jerusalem
single-handed. But Jerusalem did not, like every
other city in the world, belong to its inhabitants.
Still less did it belong to the forces which were
now occupying it. Every Christian, Moslem and
Jew had a claim to Jerusalem, and was entitled to
see to it that his rights were preserved, not in
the "Holy Places throughout Palestine" alone, but
in the city itself.

_----..-----------~;'~...u' _

I1S Unies,
gieux les
tres nette
cerne Je
bles. Au
r et it est
norer ces
re. Le di
.t d'Israel

des Na
sjet cate
comman
rnationa
'airement
cites des
nisme et
tions par
Commis
~ rapport
~r Minis
don que,
t sur un
rvait l'in
ierale de
'elative a

tout en
nts de la
rnational,
irdre po-
l'etablis
Ville de

ieler' aux
>t1S abso
~t musul
Iter l'an
let.
ition des
hefsreli
tionalisa
se prepa
de l'Etat
11. Weiz
~rnant les
~ la ques-
autorites
it ne dit

1 cela, ces
ssemblee,
ien et du
sposees a
rr la pro
a Ville et
ue telles.
ment que
mise en

aternatio
t la reso
Jnies que
: une dis
I dissemi
~t la Ville
part. La

Gurion a
dans ses
nciliation,
srnationa
le deman
'esentants

iternatio
ux saints



of the problem, which had been recognized by the
majority of the Assembly at the first part of its
third session, had not now become less urgent.
There seemed to be no grounds to give priority
to the admission of Israel over that of Italy, Ire
land, Portugal or Ceylon. The Lebanese Govern
ment held that the admission of Israel was not
urgent and should be deferred until Israel had
satisfactorily demonstrated its willingness and
capacity to conform to the wishes of the General
Assembly and other organs of the United Nations,
especially with respect to the internationalization
of Jerusalem and the repatriation of the Arab
refugees. In no case should the Assembly con
done Israel's defiance of United Nations decisions
'and admit it on the assumption that it might later
change its policies.

Accordingly, the Lebanese delegation had sub
mitted its draft resolution. It found it difficult to
understand the position taken by some delegations
which favoured unconditional admission of Israel
during the present session in the hope that it
would ultimately abide by the Assembly's earlier
decisions, in view of the fact that Israel had dem
onstrated in advance its unwillingness to abide
by those decisions.

Finally, it would be a serious mistake for the
General Assembly to sanction the admission of
Israel and thus to prejudice the negotiations upon
which the Conciliation Commission had only re
cently embarked. In that connexion, a United
States newspaper had quoted a representative of
Israel to the effect that peace in the Near East
was conditional upon that State's immediate ad
mission to the United Nations. It was useless to
think, the representative had been quoted as say
ing, that the Conciliation Commission could ef
fectively proceed' in its work before that condi
tion had been. fulfilled.

The Government of Lebanon had entered into
those negotiations in good faith. It would consider
the admission of Israel at the present stage as
a revocation of the resolution of 11 December
1948 which had established the Conciliation Com
mission. The Commission could function only
within its terms of reference, which were not re
spected by Israel. Mr. Malik stated his Govern
ment's view that if Israel should be admitted to
membership in the United Nations at the present
time, without prior assurance that in all details it
would respect the terms of reference of the Con
ciliation Commission, the Lebanese Government
reserved the right to reconsider its position to
ward the conversations now proceeding in Lau
sanne.

The CHAIRMAN recalled that at the preceding
meeting the. Committee had adopted a resolution
"to invite the Government of Israel to send a rep
resentative to the Ad H DC Political Committee
with a view to answering such questions and mak
ing such statements as the Committee might deem
desirable before reporting to the General Assembly
on the question of the admission of Israel to mem
bership in the United Nations".

maniere satisfaisante les aspects humains et reli
gieux du probleme, qui a ete reconnue par la
majorite de l'Assemblee au cours de la premiere
partie de sa troisieme session, n'est pas devenue
moins urgente maintenant. 11 semble qu'il n'y ait
la aucune raison de donner a I'admission d'Israel
la priorite sur celle de l'Italie, de l'Irlande, du
Portugal ou de Ceylan. Le Gouvernement du Li
ban estime que l'admission d'Israel n'a rien d'ur
gent et qu'il convient de I'ajourner jusqu'a ce
ce que cet Etat ait prouve d'une maniere satisfai
sante qu'il est desireux et capable de se confor
mer aux voeux de l'Assemblee generale et d'au
tres organes de l'Organisation des Nations Unies,
notamment en ce qui concerne I'internationalisa
tion de Jerusalem et le rapatriement des refugies
arabes. L'Assemblee ne doit en aucun cas sane
tionner la maniere d'agir d'Israel qui est un defi
lance aux decisions de I'Organisation des Nations
Unies, ni l'admettre dans ses rangs en tenant pour
acquis qu'il changera peut-etre de politique par
la suite.

C'est pourquoi la delegation du Liban a soumis
son projet de resolution. Elle comprend mall'atti
tude adoptee par .certaines delegations, qui se sont
prononcees en faveur de l'admission sans condi
tion d'Israel pendant la session actuelle, dans l'es
poir que cet Etat, qui a prouve par avance qu'il
n'entend pas se conformer aux decisions anterieu
res de l'Assemblee finira malgre tout par s'y con
former.

Enfin, l'Assemblee generale commettrait une
grave erreur en decidant d'admettre Israel et en
portant prejudice, de ce fait, aux negociations que
la Commission de conciliation a tout recernment
entamees, A ce prqpos, un journal des Etats
Unis a cite une declaration d'un representant
d'Israel, selon laquelle la paix dans le Moyen
Orient dependrait de l'admission immediate de cet
Etat dans I'Organisation des Nations Unies, Ce
representant aurait dit qu'il ne fallait pas croire
que la Commission de conciliation put poursuivre
eflicacement sa tache, avant que cette condition
n'ait ete remplie.

C'est en toute bonne foi que le Gouvernement
du Liban s'est prete aces negociations, 11 estime·
que, si 1'0n admettait Israel a l'heure actuelle, on
annulerait la resolution du 11 decembre 1948 qui
a cree la Commission de conciliation. La Commis
sion ne peut operer que dans le cadre de son
mandat, qu'Israel ne respecte pas. En conse
quence, M. Malik traduit l'opinion de son Gou
vernement en declarant que, si I'Organisation des.
Nations Unies admet a l'heure actuelle l'Etat
d'Israel comme Membre de l'Organisation, sans
que cet Etat ait donne auprealable l'assurance
qu'il respectera en tous points le mandat de la
Commission de conciliation, le Gouvernement du
Liban se reserve le droit de reconsiderer son atti
tude en ce qui concerne les conversations actuelle
ment en cours a Lausanne.

Le PRESIDENT rappelle que, lors de la seance
precedente, la Commission a adopte une resolution
tendant a "inviter le Gouvernement d'Israel a en
voyer a la Commission politique speciale un repre
sentant charge de repondre aux questions que la
Commission desirera lui poser et. de faire les de
clarations qu'elle jugera utiles avant de soumettre
a l'Assemblee generale un rapport sur la qttestion.
de la demande d'admission d'Israel a l'Organisa
tion des Nations Unies",

:1
~

;

j
J~J

I:.···.·.·~.;
J

r

I



ts et reli
le par la
premiere

, devenue
'il n'y ait
11 d'Israel
lande, du
nt du Li
den d'ur
rsqu'a ce
e satisfai
e confer-

et d'au
ns Unies,
itionalisa
; refugies
cas sane
,t un defi
; Nations.
aant pour
tique par

a soumis
mal l'atti
ui se sont
ns condi
dans l'es
mce qu'il
anterieu
~ s'y con-

trait une
ael et en
tions que
icemment
es Etats
resentant

Moyen
ate de cet
Jnies, Ce
as croire
oursuivre
condition

ernement
11 estime
tuelle, on
1948 qui
Commis
~ de son,
n conse-
ion Gou
ation des.
le l'Etat
ion, sans
LSsurance
fat de la
~ment du
son atti
aetuelle-

la seance
esolution
aela en
un repre
IS que la
e les de
oumettre
question.
)rpnisa-

1r,
I.
j
1

At the invitation of the Chairman, Mr. Eban,
the representative of Israel, came to the Com
mittee table.

The CHAIRMAN indicated that the representa
tives of Sweden and Iraq had asked to speak be
fore the representative of Israel presented his
statement.

Mr. AL-SWAIDY (Iraq) yielded the floor to the
representative of Israel and indicated that Iraq
would present its statement after the representa
tive of Israel had been heard.

Mr. GRAFSTROM (Sweden) stated that the
Swedish delegation had studied the report on the
assassination of the late United Nations Mediator,
Count Bernadotte, and Colonel Serot, submitted
by the Government of Israel to the Security Coun
cil (S/1315). It considered that report unsatis
factory, since it left too many questions unsettled
and shed no light on the responsibility for the
crime.

The Swedish delegation would not enter into
the consideration of that report before the Com
mittee since that report had been submitted to the
Security Council. Moreover, the matter was being
discussed between the Swedish and Israeli Govern
ments through normal diplomatic channels.

Mr. EBAN (Israel) understood that the ques
tions raised in connexion with Israel's application
for membership in the United Nations were being
discussed in the light of the compliance of Israel
with the relevant resolutions of the General As
.sembly.

He recalled that on 29 November 1948, Israel's
application for membership in the United Nations
had been submitr- ~ to the Security Council in
accordance with le 4, paragraph 2 of the
Charter", On 14 l 1948; the State of Israel
had proclaimed its independence, in accordance
with the explicit instructions of the General As
.sembly itself.

He recalled that the Assembly resolution 181
(11) of 29 November 1947 contained a recom
mendation that when either State envisaged by
that resolution had made its independence effec
tive, "sympathetic consideration should be given
to its application for membership in the United
Nations in accordance with Article 4 of the
·Charter of the United Nations".

By the date of its request for admission, the
State of Israel had successfully withstood an ag
.gressive onslaught Iaunched against it by seven
States including six Members of the United
Nations, in an effort to negate the General As
sembly'sresolution by force. Israel had established
the foundations of its government and had secured
.recognition by nineteen States. It had persistently
made efforts to negotiate with the neighbouring
Arab States for an end to the war and the estab-

I See 8/1093.

Sur l'invitation du President, M. Eban, repre
se,,!ta,nt d'Israel,prend place ala table de la Com
msssum.

Le PRESIDENT fait remarquer que les repre
sentants de la Suede et de l'Irak ont demande a
prendre la parole avant que le representant d'Is
rael ne fasse sa declaration.

M. AL-SWAIDY (Irak) cede son tour au repre
sentant d'Israel, en indiquant qu'il prendra la
parole lorsque ce dernier aura termine sa declara
tion.

M. GRAFSTROM (Suede) indique que sa dele
gation a etudie le rapport que le Gouvernement
d'Israel a soumis au Conseil de securite (5/1315)
au sujet de l'assassinat du comte Bernadotte, Me
diateur des Nations Unies, et du colonel Serot, La
delegation de Suede a le regret de faire savoir
qu'elle ne peut estimer ce rapport comme satisfai
sant; eneffet, trop de questions y sont laissees
sans reponse et on n'y trouve aucune indication
nette en ce qui concerne la responsabilite du
crime.

Etant donne que le Conseil de securite est saisi
de ce rapport, la delegation de la Suede n'en en
tamera pas l'etude au sein de la Commission.
D'ailleurs, cette affaire fait encore actuellement
l'objet d'un echange de vues par la voie diplo
matique normale entre le Gouvernement de la
Suede et celui d'Israel.

M. EBAN (Israel) declare que, s'il comprend
bien, les questions qui ont ete soulevees au sujet
de l'admission d'Israel it. I'Organisation des Na
tions Unies sont actuellement discutees en fonc
tion des mesures qu'Israel a ou n'a pas prises
pour se conformer aUJJ: dispositions 4es resolutions
pertinentes de l'Assemblee generale,

Le representant d'Israel rappelle que le 29
novembre 1948, Israel a presente au C .mseil de
securite sa demande d'admission it. 1'0rganisation
des Nations Unies, conformement aux disposi
tions' du paragraphe 2 de l'Article 4 de la Charte'.
Le 14 mai 1948, l'Etat d'Israel a proclame son
independance, en vertu de son droit a disposer de
lui-meme et des instructions explicites de I'As
semblee generale.

M. Eban rappelle egalt:ment que la resolution
de l'Assernblee generale 181 (11), en date du 27
novembre 1947, pre oyait que "lorsque l'inde-

'pendance . . . (de l'un ou I'autre des Etats pre
vus) sera devenue effective, . . . it conviendra
d'examiner avec bienveillance sa demande d'ad
mission comme Membre des Nations Unies con
formement it. l'article 4 de la Charte des Nations
Unies".

A la date oil il a presente sa demande d'admis
sion, l'Etat d'Israel avait resiste avec succes a
une violente agression organisee et declenchee
contre lui par sept Etats - dont six Etats Mem
bres des Nations Unies ....... qui s'opposaient ainsi,
par la force, a ce quesoient mises a execution les
dispositions de la resolution de l'Assemblee gene
rale. L'Etat d'Israel avait etabli lea fondationa
de son Gouvernement et avait ete reconnu par
dix-neuf Etats; il avait fait des efforts incessanta

I Voir 8/1093.



228

l,

lishment of peace. Israel was the only State in
volved in the war which had undertaken to comply
with the Security Council's resolution of 16 No
vember 19481, calling upon the Governments con
cerned to negotiate an armistice as a transition to
lasting peace. Israel had emerged from mortal
danger into the clear prospect of survival and,
having reached that degree of stability both in its
domestic institutions and its international position,
had come forward to assume its obligations as a
Member of the United Nations.

Israel's application had therefore been on the
agenda of the United Nations for five months.
During the first discussion in the Security Council
in December 19482, there had already been a
considerable body of opinion ready to favour an
immediate recommendation for admission, Some
delegations had, however, counselled a brief delay
and had pointed out that a beginning 1);.1d not yet
been made in the process of negotiation called for
by the Security Council and by the General As
sembly. Other delegations invoked the provisional
character of Israel's governmental institutions and
the somewhat restricted basis of its international
recognition at that time. The Israeli Government
had found it difficult to admit that any reading of
Article 4 of the Charter made those considerations
strictly relevant. Many States had been admitted
to membership before the establishment of elected
Governments and, if the conciliation effort had not
yet begun, the fault was not with Israel, which
had been the first to propose direct armistice and
peace talks in a formal communication to Arab
States through the Mediator as early as August
19483• •

Nevertheless, the Israel Government, realizing
that the Security Council was the organ of the
United Nations with "primary responsibility for
the maintenance of international peace and secur
ity", had taken sympathetic note of the Council'8
hesitations and had waited until March 1949 be
fore requesting further consideration of its appli
cation". In the interim, Israel's consolidation had
progressed rapidly; it had secured recognition
by an overwhelming majority of other States; it
had conducted the only democratic election with
full popular participation which had been seen in
that part of the Near East for several years; it
had established a legislature based on popular sui
frage, had formed a government dedicated to the
principles of parliamentary_ democracy and social
reform, and had elected a Head of State who sym
bolized Israel's concern for international prestige
and scientific humanism. After direct and intricate
negotiations under the skillful direction of the
Acting Mediator, the Government of Israel had
concluded an armistice agreement with Egypt, the
leading Power in the Arab world, and wished to

• See Official Records of the Sttur;ty Cmmcil, Third
Year, No. 126.

11 Ibid., NOI. 128, 129 and 130.
3 See 5/954.
• See 5/1267.

Dour, negocier avec les Etats arabes voisins, en
vue de mettre fin a la guerre et de retablir la paix.
Seul, parmi les Etats engages dans la guerre, Is
rael avait entrepris de .se conformer aux disposi
tions de la resolution du 16 novembre 19481 qui
demandait aux Gouvernements interesses de nego
cier un armistice comme transition vers une paix
durable..Israel avait reussi a sortir d'un danger
mortel. 11 voyait desormais s'ouvrir devant lui la
perspective d'une survivance certaine, et, parce
qu'il avait atteint ce degre de stabilite, a la fois
du point de vue de ses institutions nationales et
de celui de sa position sur le plan international"
il demandait son admission a l'Organisation des
Nations Unies pour y assumer ses obligations en
tant que Membre de cette Organisation.

.La demande d'admission d'Israel figure done a
l'ordre du jour de l'Organisation des Nations
Unies depuis cinq mois, Lorsque, en decembre
19482, on en a discute, pour la premiere fois, an
sein du Conseil de securite, il se trouvait deja une
partie importante de l'opinion qui se declaraiten
faveur d'une recommandation immediate pour
l'admission d'Israel, Certaines delegations, cepen
dant, conseillaient d'attendre quelque temps, et
faisaient remarquer que rien n'avait encore ete
entrepris au sujet des negociations que reclamaient
le Conseil de securite et l'Assemblee generate..
D'autres delegations invoquaient le caractere pro..,
visoire des institutions gouvernementales d'Israel
et la base encore assez restreinte de sa recon
naissance sur le plan international. Le Gouverne
ment d'Israel a peine it croire qu'on puisse inter-
preter I'Article 4 de la Charte comme justifiant des
considerations de cet ordre. En effet, de nom
breux Etats ont ete admis a faire partie de l'Or~

ganisation des Nations Unies avant l'etablissement
de Gouvernementselus. D'autre part, si aucure
effort de conciliation n'avait encore ete fait, la
faute n'en incombait pas a Israel, qui avait ete le
premier a proposer des negociations directes aux
Etats arabes par l'interrnediaire du Mediateur,.
des le debut d'aout 19483•

Neanmoins, le Gouvernement d'Israel, cons
scient du fait que le Conseil de securite etait
I'organe de l'Organisation des Nations Unies
auquel in- ombe "la responsabilite principale du
maintien de la paix et de la securite internatio
nales" a tres bien compris les hesitations du Con
seil, et a attendu jusqu'au rnois de mars 1949'
pour demander que sa candidature soit examinee a
nouveau". Entre temps, la consolidation de l'Etat
d'Israel avait fait de rapides progres, 11 avait ete'
reconnupar une ecrasante majorite d'autres
Etats; it avait tenu les seules elections demoera
tiques, ci pleine participation populaire, qu'aient
vues depuis plusieurs annees ces reJions du Pro
che-Orient, Israel avait etabli une legislature fon
dee sur le suffrage populaire.: it avait forme un
gouvernement voue aux principes de la democra
tie parlementaire et de la reforme sociale et avait
elu comme Chef de l'Etat, la personne qui symbo
lisait le mieux I'ideal du prestige international et
de I'humanisme scientifique que professe Israel.
Apres des negociations directes et particuliere
ment difficiles, conduites sous l'habile direction

• Voir les P,ottl-vt1'baUK officiell du Con,..iI dt leeu,;11
troisieme annee. N° 126. I-

»tu«, N°. 128, 129 et 130.
11 Voir 5/954.
• Voir 5/1267.

, I
I

J

,
1.



olslns, en
ir la paix.
uerre, Is
t disposi
19481 qui
i de nego-
une paix

m danger
'ant lui la
et, parce
a la fois

lonales et
rnationaJ,.
ation des
~ations en.

re donc a
Nations

decembre
e fois, an
deja une

clarait en
ate pour
ls,cepen-·
temps, et
ncore ete
clamaient
generale..

:tere pro...·
s d'Israel
sa recon-..
.Jouverne-
isse inter
tifiant des
de nom

~ de l'Or
ilissement
si aucurr

e fait, la
rait ete le
ectes aux
rediateur,.

Lel, cons
Irite etai.t
ns Unies
cipale du
nternatio
, du Con
iars 1949
xaminee a
de l'Etat
avait ete'
d'autres

democra
, qu'aient
s du Pro
ature fon
forme un
democra-

le et avait
ui symbo
ational et
se Israel.
rticuliere-
direction

dt lecu,.;t',.

.....

i,

regard that agreement as the prelude to peace be
tween the two countries.

In every other case of admission, a resolution
of the Security Council, such as the one recom
mending the application of Israel by nine votes to
one', had had a decisive effect when Assembly
confirmation had been sought. Considering that
Israel's claim for admission had been hotly con
tested within the Security Council by one of the
States which had felt itself entitled to make a war
for the extermination of Israel and the overthrow
of the Assembly resolution by force, it was clear
that the majority in the Security Council had not
been achieved by a cursory review of the case.
The suggestion of the United Kingdom that
residual problems of the war, especially the ques-

. tionof the status of the cityof Jerusalem and the
Arab refugees, should be clarified before admis
sion was recommended, had implicitly rejected the
Council's vote. Remaining within the terms of
Article 40f the Charter and in full consciousness
of Israel's position on both of those questions, the

.Security Council had sent its impressive verdict
to the General Assembly (A/S1S). During the
eighty-nine meetings devoted to the Palestine
question, the Security Council had had an oppor
tunity to observe the conduct of Israel and its
constant recourse to the basic principles of the
Charter which, by forbidding use of force in inter
national relations, should have prevented that vio
lent obstruction of the partition decision which
was the source of all subsequent trouble and of
all outstanding problems.

Since the adoption of the Security Council's
resolution supporting Israel's application, that
State had concluded armistice agreements with
Lebanon and with Transjordan. In addition, arm
istice negotiations with. Syria were .in progress
and an Israeli delegation had been sent to Lau
sanne at the invitation of the Conciliation Corn
mission,

Mr. Eban stated that the Government of Israel
had informed the Conciliation Commission that it
wished to ref:lrd the Lausanne meetings not as a
mere preliminary exchange of views, but as an
earnest attempt by both parties to achieve a final
and effective peace settlement. The entire issue of
peace and stability in the Near East depended on
the reply of the Arab countries on this point,
indicating whether or not their delegations were
similarly prepared to institute peace discussions.
Clearly, progress towards peace between Israel
and its neighbours had increased in momentum
since the Security Council's recommendation for
the admission of Israel.

R~ferring to the jurisprudence of the United
Nations relating to the admission of new Mem
bers, the representative of Israel stated that it

I See OJRritJl R,co,.d, of thl Stc""'ty Council, Fourth
Year, No.l1.

du Mediateur par interim, le Gouvernement d'Is
rael a conclu un accord d'armistice avec l'Egypte,
principale puissance du monde arabe, et a de
dare qu'il considerait cet accord comme le pre
lude a la paix entre leurs deux pays.

Dans tous les cas d'admission, lorsque le Con
seil de securite a recomrnande une candidature 
et il a recomrnande la candidature d'Israel par
neuf voix contre une -. sont avis a eu une in
fluence decisive sur sa confirmation par l'Assem
blee. Etant donne que la demande d'admission
d'Israel a rencontre, it l'interieur meme du Conseu
de securite, l'opposition acharnee d'un Etat qui
s'etait arroge le droit d'entreprendre la guerre
pour la destruction d'Israel et de s'opposer par .la
force it la resolution de I'Assemblee, il est clair
que la decision de la majorite n'a pas ete prise
sans un examen approfondi. Le vote du Consr il
de securite constitue un rejet implicite de la sug
gestion du Royaume-Uni, qui voudrait qu'avant
de recomrnander l'admission d'Israel on reglat
les questions laissees en suspens it la fin de la
guerre, et specialement celles du statut de la V ille
de Jerusalem et des refugies arabes. Demeui ant
dans le cadre de I'Article 4de la Charte et pleine
ment conscient du point de vue d'Israel a regard
de ces deux problemes, le Conseil de securitf a
rendu un verdict solennel et l'a soumis a l'Assem
blee generale (A/SIB). Au cours des quatre
vingt-neuf seances consacrees it I'examen de la
question palestinienne, le Conseil de securite a eu
toutes possibilites d'observer l'attitude d'Israel
et la facon dont it s'est constamment conforrne
aux principes fondamentaux de la Charte qui, en
interdisant le recours it l'emploi de la force dans
les relations internationales, auraient dit empe
cher l'opposition arrnee it la decision relative au
partage, opposition dans laquelle it faut chercher
l'origine de tous les troubles ulterieurs ainsi que
de toutes les difficultes qui subsistent. .

Depuisque le. Conseil de securite s'est pro
nonce en faveur de la demande d'Israel, cet Etat
Si conclu des accords d'armistice avec le Liban et
la Transjordanie. De plus, des negociations d'ar
mistice se poursuivent avec la Syrie et, sur l'in
vitation de la Commission de conciliation, une
delegation d'Israel a ete envoyee aLausanne.

M. Eban precise que le Gouvernement d'Israel
a fait connaitre a la Commission de conciliation
son desir de considerer les reunions de Lausanne,
non pas comme des echanges de vues preliminai
res, mais comme une tentative qui serait faite de
bonne foi par les deux parties in~eressees pour
aboutir aun reglement pacifique, definitif et com
plet. La solution de toute la question de lapaix
et de la stabilite dans le Proche-Orient depend
de la reponse que les Etats arabes feront sur ce
point et de la mesure dans laquelle leurs delega
tions se montreront dispcsees, elles aussi, a en
tamer des negociations de paix. 11 est manifcste
que la tendance favorable a un reglement paci
fique entre Israel et ses voisins s'est considera
blement renforcee depuis la recommandation du
Conseil de securite en faveur de l'admission d'Is-

I rael,

Rappelant la jurisprudence de l'Or~anisation
des Nations Unies au sujet de J'admission del
nouveaux Membres, le representant d'Israelde-

1 Voir le. p,.oce,-vtrbaflx du Conseil dt ,Icu~'tl,quatri
erne annee, N° 11.



r
i

clare que son Gouvernement croit savoir que les
dispositions de l'Article 4s sont les seules perti
nentes pour l'examen d'une demande d'admission.
Cette opinion, qui repose sur l'esprit et le texte de
la Charte, a ete confirmee par la resolution de
l'Assemblee generate du 8 decembre 1948 (197
(Ill) ), aux termes de laquelle aucun Etat n'est
fonde en droit it faire dependre son consentement
it une demande d'admission de conditions qui ne
sont pas expressement prevues dans le paragraphe
premier de l'Article 4 de la Charte.

Le representant d'Israel souligne egalement
l'importance des consequences politiques et mora
les de la resolution, qui s'ajoutent aux considera
tions d'ordre juridique, et rappelle que l'opinion
preponderante est favorable it l'universalite de
l'Organisation des Nations Unies. Le represen
tant d'Israel estime done qu'aucun Membre de
1'0rganisation des Nations Unies, s'il rejette les
principes du conformisme totalitaire, ne peut it
juste titre refuser son consentement it l'admission
d'Israel, sous pretexte que ce dernier ne partage
pas ses opinions politiques sur la solution it don
ner it certains problemes internationaux.

Bien qu'il se propose d'exposer le point de vue
officiel du Gouvernement d'Israel au sujet des
problemes de Jerusalem et des refugies arabes,
M. Eban reserve l'opinion de son Gouvernement
en ce qui concerne la pertinence de ces questions,
etrangeres it I'examen de la demande d'admission.
Si l'invitation faite au representant d'Israel de
prendre la parole a cree un nouveau precedent, les
partisans de la "procedure normale" doivent ega
lement noter qu'aucun autre candidat n'a ete
requis de presenter ses vues sur les problemes
internationaux lors de l'examen de sa demande
d'admission. Lorsqu'on a examine la demande
d'admission du Yemen, il n'a pas ete question de
la politique d'esc1avage organise poursuivie sous
les auspices des autorites officielles de cet Etat.
On peut done supposer que l'Assemblee generale
a logiquement estime que les problemes interna
tionaux peuvent etre plus faciIement resolus dans
le cadre de l'Organisation des NationsUnies qu'en
dehors d'elle. La tache de trouver des solutions
aux problemes de Jerusalem et des refugies ara
bes a ete attribuee it la Commission de concilia
tion. La seule vquestion pertinente dont puisse
discuter la Commission est de savoir si Israel
remplit les conditions necessaires pour etre ad
mis it l'Organisation des Nations JJnies au sens
de J'Article 4 de Ja Charte. M. .Eban declare que
ni I'attitude, ni la politique poursuivie par Israel
ne sonr incompatibles en quoi que ce soit avec la
Charte ou avec les iresolutions de I'Assemblee
generale ou du Conseil de securite,

Les responsabilites de 1'0rganisation des Na
tions Unies au sujet de la ViUe de Jerusalem re
montent it la resolution de l'Assemblee generale
du 29 novembre 1947, qui a prevu l'etablissement
d'un regime special pour proteger les tresors spiri
tuels et religieux d'interet immense situes dans
cette viJle. Cette resolution prevoyait it cet effet
l'organisation d'une force de police speciale, la
nomination d'un Gouverneur place it la tete d'un
important personnel militaire et administratif, et
chargeait le Conseil de tutelle de rediger un sta
tut detaille, Telles etaient les responsibilites que
l'Assemblee avait assumees it cette epoque. Le
facteur principal, qui est it l'origine de tous les
problemes compliques qu'implique la question pa
lestinienne et qui est cause de l'echec des plans

230

While proposing to give the official views of the
Government of Israel on the problems of Jerusa
lem and Arab refugees, Mr. Eban reserved Israel's
opinion with regard to the relevance of extraneous
issues to the questiort of admission to member
ship. While the invitation extended to the repre
sentative of Israel to speak established a new
precedent, the adherents of "normal procedures"
might well note that no other candidate for
membership had been called upon to present its
views on international problems in the context
of the discussion on Israel's admission to mem
bership. In the consideration of Yemen for mem
bership, there had been no discussion of the offi
cially sponsored policy of organized slavery. It
could therefore be assumed that the General As
sembly had taken the logical view that such inter
national problems were better solved within the
framework of the United Nations than outside it.
The tasks of finding solutions to the problems of
Jerusalem and Arab refugees had been allocated
to the Conciliation Commission. The only question
relevant to the Committee's discussion was the
eligibility of Israel for membership within the
meaning of Article 4 of the Charter. Israel held
no views and pursued no policies on any questions
which were inconsistent with the Charter or with
the resolutions of the General Assembly and the
Security Council.

was his Government's understanding that noth:n.g
but the provisions of Article 4 were relevai., in
the consideration of an application for member
ship. That conviction, based on the spirit and the
language of the Charter, had been confirmed by
the General Assembly resolution of 8 December
1948 (197 (Hf ) ), which stated that juridically no
State was entitled to make its consent to the
admission of an applicant dependent on conditions
not expressly provided by paragraph 1 of Article
4 of the Charter.

In addition to the legal considerations, the rep
resentative of Israel stressed the political and
moral implications of the resolution and recalled
the preponderance .of opinion in favour of the
principle of universality. In the opinion of the
representative of Israel, no Member of the United
Nations which rejected principles of totalitarian
conformity could withhold its consent to Israel's
admission on the grounds that Israel did not share
its views on the solution of certain international
problems.

The history of the responsibilities of the United
Nations in the City of Jerusalem had originated
in the General Assembly resolution of 29 Novem
ber 1947, envisaging a special regime to protect
the unique spiritual and religious interests located
in the City. According to the resolution, the dis
charge of that responsibility would necessitate a
special police force and the appointment of a
Governor with a large military and administrative
staff, and the Trusteeship Council had been in
structed to draft a detailed statute for the City.
Those were the responsibilities which the Assem
bly had assumed at that time. The major factor
at the root of all the complex problems of the
Palestine question, including frustration of the
plans for Jerusalem, had been Arab defiance of

, . .,.......:

:~

""



231
..•<.,i;i~~~~X*~';~~~'f~;f:i!lr!'i;'i;i';*.~fl~I'.·;;~l';'l;~I!;~:?, &';f~_lIP,'!'J~,",M't"IM"IAMJ,,~li11"il;~_l.! · '·

~_1". -' . -.-,' " .' . .

• les.
erti-.
non. ~

e de <~-

'it
l de
(197
\.

a'est ~ i

nent.
I ne
sphe

nent
ora-
lera-.
mon
: de
sen-
.. de~

~ les
ut a.
ision
tage
don-

vue
des

abes, ..

nent r
ions,
sion.

,
i

1 de !

t, les h,
ega- tl

ete \;~

~mes
11

•ancle
ande :;;

i
n de d

r

sous
B:tat. j

•erale
,,
',i
'I

erna- ,:0

dans
u

[u'en
tions
ara-

cilia-
uisse
srael :~\,

ad-
.F'

~ I,
sens

~ que
srael
ec la
nblee ,
Na- I, .

, "

n re- ,~

lerale
::~,
.'

ment ,
spiri-
dans ~.
effet

e, la
d'un
if, et
l sta-
i que
~. Le
lS les
n pa-
plans

'.,"~{_""':"!"! I" rr~'-''1'h'Lr~ ~"i;,"-~

the resolution of the General Assembly as re
ported by the United Nations Palestine Commis
sion to the General Assembly in April 19481

• The
same report had stated that. the Jews were det~r
mined to ensure che estabbshment of the Jewish
State as envisaged by the Assembly resolution.

Recalling that seven States, including six Mem
bers of the United Nations, had undertaken offi
cial "military intervention". in defiance of ~he
General Assembly resolution, the representative
of Israel stated that without recognition of the
initial responsibilities for the war, no single aspect
of the situation in the Near East could be prop
erly evaluated. He drew attention to the paradox
whereby the only States which had ever taken
up anus to overthrow an Assembly resolution by
force solemnly accused their intended victim of a
lack of concern for Assembly resolutions. If any
State's eligibility for membership should be under
consideration, it would be the eligibility of those
who consciously selected war as a method of con
testing the authority of international judgment.
If, 'as advocated by the representative of Lebanon,
compliance with resolutions of the General As
sembly should be a condition for membership in
the United Nations, Lebanon would not be repre
sented in the Organization. The Arab States had
opposed by force the establishment of Israel as
well as the establishment of an international
regime in Jerusalem.

In the Trusteeship Council, the Arab States
had refused to participate in the discussion of a
statute for the City of Jerusalem, whereas Jewish
representatives had co-operated fully. Signifi
cantly, Arab violence against the General As
sembly's resolution had begun in Jerusalem itself.
Reviewing the horrors of the protracted siege of
Jerusalem by Arab forces, including the armed
forces of Transjordan, Iraq and Egypt, and the
failure of any organ of the United Nations to take
effective action in assuming the responsibilities to
which the Organization was pledged, the repre
sentative of Israel noted that rescue of Jerusalem
had been effected not by the United Nations but
by the people of Israel who were then engaged
in a desperate struggle for their own survival.
During the ensuing fight, the Jewish inhabitants
of the Old City had surrendered amidst the de
struction of its Holy Places, The few synagogues
not then destroyed had since been laid waste by
Arab occupation forces. The Wailing Wall had
been barred to worshippers and that situation still
prevailed.

The attachment between the Jews of Jerusalem
and the Jews of Israel was explained not merely
by ties of language, religion, culture and other
forms of natural allegiance but also by the link
forged in the desperate struggle for the survival
of Jerusalem. He recalled how, immediately on
termination of the mandate, Transjordan troops
had invaded Jewish villages, killed their inhabi-

1 See Official Records of the second special session of
the General Assembly, Supplement No. I.

etablis pour Jerusalem, est le mepris dont les
Arabes ont fait preuve a. l'egard de la resolution
de l'Assernblee generale, et dont la Commission
des .Nations Unies pour la Palestine a rendu
compte a. l'Assemblee generale e!1 .avril , 1948~.
Dans le meme rapport, la Commission declarait
que les J uifs etaient decides a. etablir I'Etat juif,
comme le prevoyait la resolution de l'Assemblee.

Rappelant que sept Etats, dont six sont Mem
bres de l'Organisation des Nations Unies ont offi
ciellement entrepris une "intervention militaire"
au mepris de la resolution de l'Assemblee gene
rale, le representant d'Israel declare que, si 1'0n
ne reconnait pas a. qui incombe la responsabilite
initiale de la guerre, on ne peut avoir une vue
correcte d'aucun des aspects de la situation dans
le Proche-Orient. M. Eban appelle I'attention de
la Commission sur ce paradoxe que les seuls
Etats qui aient jamais pris les armes pour reduire
a. neant,' par la force, une resolution de l'Assem
blee generale accusent solennellement celui dont
its pretendaient faire leur victime de manque de
respect pour les resolutions de l'Assemblee gene
rale. S'il y avait lieu d'examiner dans quelle
mesure les Etats remplissent les conditions requi
ses pour ~tre Membres de l'Organisation des Na
tions Unies it faudrait etudier avant tout le cas de
ceux qui ont consciemment choisi la guerre comme
moyen de contester l'autorite d'une decision inter
nationale. Si, COIT.me le preconise le representant
du Liban, la soumission awe resolutions de l'As
semblee generale devait etre l'une des conditions
de l'admission a. l'Organisation des Nations Unies,
le Liban ne serait pas represente a cette derniere,
Les Etats arabes se sont opposes par la force tant
a. l'etablissement de l'Etat d'Israel qu'a l'etablisse
ment d'un regime international a. Jerusalem.

Au Conseil de tutelle, les Etats arabes ont re
fuse de participer a. la discussion d'un statut pour
la Ville de Jerusalem, tandis que les representants
des J uifs y ont apporte leur pleine collaboration.
I1 est significatif que les violences arabes, dirigees
contre la resolution de l'Assemblee generale, aient
commence dans la Ville de Jerusalem elle-meme.
Evoquant les horreurs du siege prolonge de jeru..
salem par les forces arabes, et notamment par
les forces de la Transjordanie, de l'Irak et de
l'Egypte, et l'inertie des organes de I'Organisation
des Nations Unies qui auraient dft prendre des
mesures concretes pour s'acquitter des responsa
bilites que I'Organisation avait assumees, le repre
sentant d'Israel fait remarquer que Jerusalem a
ete sauvee, 110n par I'Organisation des Nations.
Unies mais par le peuple d'Israel, alors engage
dans une lutte desesperee pour son existence. Au
cours des combats, la population juivede la vieille
Ville s'etait rendue au milieu des ruines de ses
Lieux saints. Les quelques synagogues qui
n'avaient pas ete detruites alors ont ete devas
tees depuis par les forces d'occupation arabes,
L'acces au Mur des lamentations a ete et reste in
terdit aux fideles.

Le lien qui existe entre les J uifs de Jerusalem et
les Juifs d'Israel ne s'explique pas simplement
par la communaute de langue, de religion, de cul
tureet de traditions, mais aussi par l'union qui
s'e.st forgee au cours de la lutte desesperee menee
pour que Jerusalem survive. Le representant
d'Israel rappelle comment, des que le Mandat eut
pris fin, les troupes de Transjordanie ont envahi

1 Voir les Documents officiels de la deuKiime sessiolt
eKtraordinaire de I'Assemblee generale, Supplement N° 1.



i
h

tants, and laid waste their dwellings. In saving
Jerusalem from capture by the combined Arab
forces at tremendous sacrifice, the Jews had also
kept alive Christian interests in the Holy City. If
the assault upon Jerusalem had succeeded, it
would have been immediately and irrevocably in
corporated in an Arab State which explicitly as
serted its undisputed right to wield complete
sovereignty over the whole city, including its Holy
Places. The current possibility of giving statutory
expression to the international interest in J erusa
lem derived solely from the success of the Jewish
resistance. The Arab position on the internation
alization of Jerusalem had been made abundantly
clear.

Mr. Eban referred to Israel's achievement in
restoring peace and normality to Jerusalem. Un
less there was peace in Jerusalem between Arabs
and Jews, no juridical status could assure the pro
tection of the city or the immunity of its sacred
shrines. If there was peace between the two in
Jerusalem, then safeguards for the Holy Places
could easily be provided by means of bilateral and
international agreement.

It should be borne in mind that the Jews had
complied and co-operated fully with the Jerusalem
statute white the Arabs' fierce resistance had been
carried to the point of violent attack. There was
nothing inconsistent between Israel's almost soli
tary readiness to uphold the Jerusalem Statute
the previous year and its current conviction that
the' application of the international principle to
Jerusalem required the formulation of new pro
posals, and, if necessary, the acceptance of a new
approach. Application of the international prin
ciple in Jerusalem required consideration of the
changes which had occurred since November
1947. Those changes had arisen from the refusal
of the United Nations to ratify or apply the stat
utes worked out by the Trusteeship Council, the
armed conflict precipitated by Arab resistance to
the November resolution and to the internationali
zation of Jerusalem, the events of the struggle for
Jerusalem and its reintegration into the life of the
States to which its people were bound, and the
obvious unwillingness of the United Nations to
undertake a heavy military, administrative orfi
nancial commitment in Jerusalem, which would
not be unnecessary since order had been restored.

The process of integration of the life of J erusa
lem into the life of the neighbouring States which
now exercised the functions of administration, had
made possible the restoration of peace to Jerusa
lem, Defence of the city by Jewish forces had
been necessary to prevent its fall; restoration of
its supply lines had been necessary to prevent
starvation in Jerusalem; administrative and legis
lative controls had been required to prevent J eru
salem from becoming the centre of rebellious and
dissident elements; re-establishment of institu
tions of health and learning, and of at least a
proportion of the official business which had once
~een the main support of Jerusalem, had been in-

les villages juifs, en ont rase les maisons et mas
sacre les habitants, En sauvant Jerusalem au prix
d'enormes sacrifices, de la capture par les forces
arabes combinees, les Juifs ont egalement sauve
garde les interets chretiens dans la Ville sainte.
Si l'assaut contre la ville avait ete couronne de
succes, Jerusalem eut ete immediatement et irre
vocablement incorporee a un Etat arabe qui au
rait formellement affirme son droit d'exercer une
souverainete complete surl'ensemble de la ville,
y compris les Lieux saints. C'est uniquement au
succes de la resistance des Juifs que 1'0n doit de
pouvoiraujourd'hui donner expression, sous
forme d'un statut, it. l'interet que l'ensemble des
nations porte a Jerusalem. La position des Ara
bes au sujet de l'internationalisation de Jerusa
lem a ete exposee de facon tres claire.

lVI. Eban evoque les realisations d'Israelen vue
du retablissement de la paixet d'une vie normale
a Jerusalem. A moins que la paix ne regne a
Jerusalem entre les Arabes et les J uifs, aucun
statut juridique ne pourra assurer la protection
de la ville ou l'immunite de ses sanctuaires. Si la
paix regne cl Jerusalem, la sauvegarde des Lieux
saints devient un probleme qui peut facilement
etre regIe par des accords bilateraux et interna
tionaux.

11 ne faut pas perdre de vue que les Juifs
ont respecte le Statut de Jerusalem et ont
apporte leur pleine collaboration a sa mise en
eeuvre, tandis que la resistance acharnee des Ara
bes est allee jusqu'a une attaque violente. 11 n'y
a rien d'incompatible entre le fait que, l'an der
nier, Israel etait presque seul pret cl defendre le
statut de Jerusalem, et sa conviction presente que
l'application a Jerusalem du principe de l'interna
tionalisation demande a etre formulee en de nou
velles propositions et, si cela est necessaire, que
1'0n accepte d'envisager la question d'une facon
tout afait nouvelle. Pour appliquer aJerusalem le
principe de l'internationalisation, il convient de
tenir compte des changements qui sont survenus
depuis novembre 1947. Ces changements decou
lent du refus de l'Organisation des Nations Unies
de ratifier ou d'appliquer les statuts elabores par
le Conseil de tutelle, du conflit arme ou la resis
tance arabe a la resolution de novembre et au
principe de l'internationalisation de Jerusalem a
precipite le pays, des evenements qui se sont de
roules au cours de la lutte pour Jerusalem et de
la reintegration de cette derniere dans la vie de
l'Etat auquel sa population est liee, ainsi que du
manque d'empressement manifeste de l'Organisa
tion ~es .N~tions Unies as'engager aprendre dans
la ville d't'mportantes mesures d'ordre militaire
administratif et financier. Ces mesures sera.ient
d'ailleurs maintenant inutiles puisque l'ordre est
deja retabli,

Le processus de l'integration de la vie de la
vi11~ dans .la vie des Etats voisins qui y exercent
mamtenant les fonctions d'administration a per- .
m,is le retablissement de la paix a Jerusalem. La
defense de la ville par les forces juives a ete
necessaire pour empecher sa chute; le retablisse
ment de ses voies de ravitaillement a ete neces
saire pour eviter la famine a Jerusalem' it a fallu
etablir des controles administratifs et' legislatifs
pour que Jerusalem ne devienne pas le centre
d'elements rebelles et dissidents' la creation d'eta
blissements sanitaires et d'illstr~ction et une cer
tain;e par~i~ tout au moins des bureau~ officiels qui
avaient ete auparavant l'element principal de la

\
r

I

232..



1

r

I

I.

1

t
t

:1

t
- .

1
S

e

.
1

a

I
'"
"

;

!
, (::;'

,'.
'"

t,
1

1
.a
,,'
"

n

r
\
r

:,

l

\!,

dispensable to prevent the city from becoming im
poverished and depressed. That was the sole mo
tive for transferring to Jerusalem the personnel
of non-political departments whose presence might
stem the flight from Jerusalem and preserve the
city's traditional primacy in the religious, educa
tional and medical life of the country. No juridical
facts whatever were created by such steps, which
were dictated not by a desire to create new politi
cal facts, but to assist Jerusalem and to add eco
nomic recovery to the other aspects of its splen
did recuperation.

The statement contained in the Lebanese draft
resolution that the New City of Jerusalem had
been proclaimed as part of the State of Israel was
false and malicious. The most salient feature of
the Government of Israel's present attitude to the
Jerusalem problem was its earnest desire to see
the juridical status of the city satisfactorily deter
mined by international consent. The second prog
ress report of the Conciliation Commission did not
accurately reflect the attitude of the Prime Minis
ter of Israel on that question, as expressed by him
during his meeting with the Commission on 7
April 1949, namely that the Israeli Government
would put its views before the General Assembly,
where the actual decision on the' matter would
he taken.

The Israeli Government would have preferred
to continue its' discussions with the Conciliation
Commission until the General Assembly, at its
fourth regular session, was in a position to con
sider substantive proposals on the future status
of Jerusalem. But the expression of international
anxiety and the misrepresentation of certain
events compelled it to state the main principles
governing its approach at the present time. The
Government of Israel, while believing that the
international principle should be maintained, con
sidered that, in existing circumstances, that prin
ciple should be expressed more realistically than
in the previous resolutions of the General Assem
hly, The situation had considerably changed since
Novemher 1947. In that connexion, the fact of
Jerusalem's integration into the neighbouring
States and the necessity to take a more limited
view of the United Nations' administrative task
should not be overlooked.

The Israeli Government had suggested at the
first part of the current session1 that the problem
might be solved by limiting the area in which the
international regime operated, so that it.would ap
ply not to the entire city but only to that part of it
which contained the largest, number of religious
and historic shrines. Another possibility was to
envisage an international regime applying to the
whole city of Jerusalem but restricted functionally,
so that it would be concerned only with the pro
tection of the Holy Places and not with any purely
secular aspects of life and government. That was
the approach which the Govemment of Israel fa
voured at the present stage; the President of

1 See Official Records of the third session of the General
Assembly, Part I, First Committee, 200th meeting.

vie de Jerusalem etaient indispensables pour e::n
pecher l'appauvrissement de la ville et tine crise.
C'est la le seul motif du transfert a Jerusalem du
personnel de departements non politiques dont la
presence pouvait empecher les departs de Jerusa
lem et conserver a la ville sa primaute tradition
nelle dans la vie religieuse, educative et medicale
du pays. Ces mesures, qui ont ete dictees, non
point par le desir d'etablir .de nouveaux facteurs
politiques, mais par' la volonte de venir en aide a
Jerusalem et de contribuer, dans le domaine eco
nomique, a son splendide retablissement, ne cons
tituent nullement une nouvelle situation juridique.

Le projet de resolution du Liban affirme qu'on
aurait proclame que la Ville nouvelle de Jerusalem
faisait partie de I'Etat d'Israel : cette declaration
est fausse et tendancieuse. L'attitude que le Gou
vernement d'Israel a adoptee a l'egard de la ques
tion de Jerusalem estcaracterisee avant tout par
son desir ardent de voir le statut juridique de
cette ville regIe de facon satisfaisante, par voie
d'accord international. Le deuxieme rapport de la
Commission de conciliation sur revolution de la
situation ne rend pas compte d'une facon exacte
de t'attitude du Premier Ministrexl'Israel en ce
qui concerne cette question, attitude qu'il a' ex
posee au cours de son entrevue du 7 avril 1949
avec les membres de la Commission; it a declare,
en effet, que, son Gottvernement exposerait ses
vues a l'Assemblee generale lorsque 1'0n en vien
drait a trancher cette question.

Le Gouvernement d'Israel aurait prefere pour
suivre ses discussions avec la Commission de con
ciliation jusqu'au moment ou l'Assemblee gene
rale serait prete a examiner, lors de sa quatrieme
session ordinaire, des propositions concretes con
cernant le statut futur de Jerusalem. Toutefois,
les preoccupations qu'ont exprirnees divers pays
et la facon dont on a travesti certains evenements
l'obligent a enoncer des maintenant les principes
essentiels dont s'inspire son attitude Tout en esti
mant qu'it convient de maintenir le 'principe d'une
solution internationale, le Gouvernement d'Israel
estime que, dans les circonstances presentee, it y
a lieu de formuler ce principe d'une facon plus
realiste que cela n'a ete fait dans les resolutions
adoptees .iusqu'a present par l'Assemblee gene
rale. La situation a considerablement evolue de
puis le mois de novembre 1947. A ce propos, it
ne faut pas oublier que Jerusalem a ete integree
dans le territoire de deux Etats voisins et qu'il
convient d'envisager d'une facon plus limitee la
tache administrative qui incombe al'Organisation
des Nations Unies.

Au cours de la premiere partie de la session
actuelle", .Ie Gouvernement d'Israel a suggere
qu'on pourrait resoudre le probleme en limitant la
zone dans laquelle s'exercerait le regime interna
tional, de maniere qu'il s'applique non a l'ensem..
ble de la Ville, mais seulement a la' partie qui
contient le plus grand nombre de sanctuaires et
d'edifices historiques. 11 serait egalement possible
d'envisager un regime international qui s'applique
rait a la ville de Jerusalem tout entiere, mais dont
les fonctions seraient limitees a la protection des
Lieux saints; ce regime n'aurait pas a s'occuper
des aspects laiques de la vie et de l'administration
de cette region. Telle est la facon de proeeder

1 Voir les Documents officiels de la troisiJm(' ses";on de
l'Assemblee generaTe, premiere partie, Premiere Commis
sion, 200eme seance.



Israel, in a statement on 23 April 1949, had ex
pressed the official policy by saying that the Gov
ernment "pledged itself to ensure full security
for religious institutions in the exercise of their
functions; to grant the supervision of the Holy
Places by those who hold them sacred; and to
encourage and accept the fullest international safe
guards and controls for their immunity and pro
tection ... If there was a genuine desire to recon
cile . . . (the interests of Christianity and those
of the people of Jerusalem) . . • a harmonious so
lution could swiftly be secured with international
consent."

That was a far-reaching commitment and no
similar pledge had been made by the Arab Gov
ernment in control of most of the Holy Places in
Jerusalem. If the United Nations could secure
such a commitment from the Government of
Transjordan, and then proceeded to establish in
Jerusalem an international regime which would
confine its jurisdiction and authority to the Holy
Places, the problem of Jerusalem could be suc
cessfully solved. The Conciliation Commission's
belief, lately confirmed by the representative of
Lebanon, that some Arab States had modified
their hostility to, the principle of international con
trol, was ineffectual since it did not commit the
only Arab Government directly concerned in the
matter, which had failed to give any assurances to
that effect. Thus, the effective Arab position on
the matter remained negative, despite the Leba
nese representative's statement.

The consideration of the question of Jerusalem
was still at an intermediate stage. The Govern
ment of Israel would give its sympathetic atten
tion to any proposal genuinely designed to meet
the two main interests in the case, namely the
universal interest in the fate of the Holy Places
and the need to provide the people of Jerusalem
with an administration conforming with their wel
fare and national sentiments. In Mr. Eban's view
it was for the Committee to decide whether it en
dorsed or did not endorse the views of the Gov
ernment of Israel on the future status of J erusa
lem. The Committee's task was to decide whether
those views were compatible with the position of
a responsible Government.

Many Governments represented in the United
Nations had recently agreed that the concepts of
international control embodied in the General As
sembly resolution of 29 November 1947 should
be revised. Thus, Mr. Mayhew, Under-Secretary
of State for Foreign Affairs in the United King
dom Government, had remarked in a statement to
the House of Commons on 14 April 1949 that the
United Nations would surely be expressing the
will of the entire civilized world in insisting that
the Holy Places be protected and free access to
them be assured for all religions as well as for all
inhabitants of Jerusalem. The Government of Is
rael fully shared that opinion. Mr. Mayhew had
further observed that the main obstacle to the
setting up an international regime was the prob
lem of implementation; to impose an international
regime in the considerable area foreseen in the

, que le GouvernementdtIsrael preconise au stade
aetuel; le 23 avri11949, le President d'Israel, ex
posant la politique officielle que son Gouverne
ment poursuit acet egard, a declare: "Le Gouver
nement s'engage a assurer aux .etablissements re
ligieux pleine et entiere securite dans I'exercice
de leurs fonctions; it s'engage a accorder la sur
veillance des Lieux saints a ceux qui les tiennent
pour sacres, et a favoriser et a accepter I'adoption
de toutes garanties internationales et de toutes
mesures propres a assurer l'immunite et la protec
tion de ces Lieux ... S'il existe un desir reel de
concilier . . . les interets de la chretiente et ceux
de la population de Jerusalem ..., une solution
equitable peut etre realisee rapidement avec le
consentement international".

C'est la un engagement d'une grande portee, et
le Gouvernement arabe, qui controle la plupart
des Lieux saints a Jerusalem n'a pas pris d'en
gagement du meme ordre. Si l'Organisation des
Nations Unies reussit a obtenir un tel engagement
du Gouvernement de Transjordanie, et si elle eta
blitensuite a Jerusalem un regime international
dont la. juridiction et l'autorite seraient limitees
aux Lieux saints, il deviendra possible d'apporter
une solution satisfaisante au probleme de Jerusa
lem. La Commission de conciliation estime - et
le representant du Liban vientd'exprimer un
avis analogue - que certains Etats arabes au
raient modifie leur attitude hostile a l'egard du
principe du controle international; toutefois, cette
opinion n'a pas de valeur pratique puisqu'elle
n'engage pas le seul Gouvernement arabe directe
ment interesse a la question, lequel n'a pris aucun
engagement a cet effet. L'attitude reelle des Ara
bes demeure done negative, malgre la declaration
du representant du Liban.

L'examen de la question de Jerusalem en est
toujours au stade intermediaire. Le Gouvemement
d'Israel est tout dispose it accueillir favorablement
toute proposition qui tendrait veritablement a
eo cilier les deux principaux interets en cause,
c'est-a-dire qui donnerait satisfaction, tant a l'in
teret que le monde entier manifeste pour le sort
des Lieux saints, qu'a la necessite d'assurer au
peuple de Jerusalem une administration qui soit
conforme a son bien-etre et a son sentiment na
tional. M. Eban ne pense pas qu'il appartienne a
la Commission de decider si' eUe approuve ou non
les vues du Gouvernement d'Israel concernant le
statut futur de Jerusalem. La Commission a pour
tache de determiner si ces vues sont compatibles
avec la position d'un Gouvernement conscient de
ses responsabilites.

Bien des Gouvernements representee a I'Or
ganisation des Nations Unies ont reconnu recem
ment qu'il convenait de reviser les conceptions de
controle international qui figurent dans la reso
lution adoptee par l'Assernblee generale le 29
novembre 1947. Ainsi, M. Mayhew, Sous-Secre-'
taire d'Etat aux Affaires etrangeres du Royaume
Uni, a fait remarquer, dans une declaration qu'il
a faite it la Chambre des Communes le 14 avril
1949, que I'Organisation des Nations Unies expri
merait certainement le desir du monde civilise tout
entier en insistant sur la necessite d'assurer la pro
tection des Lieux saints et d'en garantir le libre
acces aux fideles de toutes les religions ainsi qu'a
tous les habitants de Jerusalem. Le Gouvernement
d'Israel partage entierement cette opinion. M.
Mayhew a egalement fait observer, a propos de
I'etablissement d'un regime international, que



M. Eban resume l'attitude de son Gouverne
ment a l'egard du probleme de Jerusalem en de
clarant que celui-ci s'est conforme, a tous egards,
au Statut elabore en novembre 1947 et n'est au
cunement responsable de l'echec de ce projet. Cet

1 Voir les Documents officiels de la troisi~me sesri",. de
"Assemblee generate, premiire Partie, Premiere Commis
sion, 20gemeseance.

c'est la mise a execution qui offre le plus de diffi
cultes ; l'institution d'un regime international dans
une region aussi etendue que celle qui est prevue
par la resolution de I'Assemblee generale en date
du 29 novembre 1947 constituerait une tache tres
considerable qui exigerait un personnel nombreux
de police et d'administration. L'evaluation de ~a
situation est correcte; les contacts que les repre
sentants d'Israel ont eus avec des Membres in
fluents de l'Organisation des Nations Unies les ont
convaincus qu'il serait impossible de prendre les
engagements d' ordre militaire ou administratif
qu'exigerait l'internationalisation; d'ailleurs, cela
n'est plus necessaire puisque la paix r~g~~ da~s la
Ville. Tout en demeurant favorable a I etabhsse
ment d'un regime international pour les Lieux
saints, le Gouvernement d'Israel n'en partage pas
moins les doutes que M. Mayhew a exprimes .a
propos du plan d'internationalisation integrale de
Jerusalem.

M. Eban rappelle que feu le Mediateur de l'Or
ganisation des Nations Unies avait mentionne par
ecrit, au mois de juin 1948, les "enormes difficul
tes" que .. comporte la tentative d'isoler la region
de Jerusalem du territoire environnant. Feu le
Mediateur, ainsi que M. Bunche ont exprime ora
lement, en juillet 1948, l'avis qu'il faudrait, sinon
abandonner, tout au moins modifier la conception
primitive sur l'internationalisation de Jerusalem.
D'autre part, M. Jessup, representant des Etats
Unis a la premiere partie de la presente session
de l'Assemblee generate, a exprime, au nom de sa
delegation, l'opinion qu'il y avait lieu, pour autant
que le permet le caractere international particu
lier de la region de Jerusalem, d'integrer celle-ci
au reste de la Palestine; it a ajoute qu'on ne pour
rait prendre des decisions definitives concernant
le statut futur de Jerusalem avant la quatrieme
session de I'Assemblee generale-, Cette derniere
declaration cadre parfaitement avec la declaration
du President du Conseil d'Israel que M. Eban a
deja citee.

Au cours des dernieres semaines, la delegation
d'Israel a recu d'un certain nombre de Gouverne
ments, et en particulier de l'un des Membres Ies
plus importants de I'Organisation des Nations
U nies, des propositions relatives au probleme de
Jerusalem. Toutes ces propositions temoignent du
desir de formuler de nouveaux principes en tenant
compte de I'evolution de la situation; elles tendent
toutes a restreindre, dans toute la mesure du pos
sible, l'exercice de l'autorite internationale a la
protection et a la surveillance des Lieux saints.
En chargeant une commission de preparer des
nouvelles propositions concernant le {)rincipe de
l'internationalisation, l'Assemblee generale a laisse
entendre clairement que la decision qu'elle avait
prise auparavant a ce sujet n'etait plus applicable.
D'ailleurs, la resolution de l'Assemblee generate
en date du 11 decembre 1948 ne recommandait
pas l'etablissement d'un. regime international,
mais preconisait Hun controle effectif des Nations
Unies".

Summing up his Government's attitude on the
Jerusalem problem, Mr. Eban stressed that the
Government of Israel had co-operated to the full
est extent with the Statute drawn up in Novem
ber 1947, and bore no responsibility for the failure

1 See Official Records oi the third session of the General
Assembly, Part 1, First Committee, 209th meeting.

In recent weeks the Israeli delegation had re
ceived proposals on the Jerusalem problem from
a number of Governments, including one of the
leading Members of the United Nations. All those
proposals indicated a desire to evolve new princi
ples in the light of changing circumstances, and
favoured the idea that the exercise of international
authority should be restricted as far as possible
to the actual protection and control of the Holy
Places. In instructing the Commission to prepare
a new proposal to express the principle of inter
nationalization, the General Assembly had clearly
indicated that its old decision on the subject was
no longer effective. Besides, the General Assem
bly resolution of 11 December 1948 did not rec
ommend an international regime but "effective
United Nations control".

Mr. Eban remarked that the late United Na
tions Mediator had in June 1948 written of the
"enormous difficulties" connected with the at
tempt to isolate the Jerusalem area from surround
ing territory. Both the late Mediator and Mr.
Bunche had stated orally in July 1948 that the
original conception of an internationalized.Jerusa
lem would have to be, if not abandoned, then at
least modified. Furthermore, Mr. Jessup, United
States representative at the first part of the cur
rent session of the General Assembly, had ex
pressed his delegation's opinion "that the Jerusa
lem area should be integrated,in so far as was
consistent with its special international character,
with the remainder of Palestine", and that lasting
decisions with regard to the future status of Jeru
salem could not be taken until the fourth session
of the General Assembly'. That last opinion fully
coincided with the statement of the Prime Minis
ter of Israel already referred to.

General Assembly resolution of 29 November
1947 would be a formidable task requiring a large
police force and administration. The appraisal of
the position was correct; the representatives of
Israel were convinced by their contacts with lead
ing Members of the United Nations that no mili
tary or administrative commitment with regar?
to internationalization was feasible; moreover, It
was no longer necessary since peace now prevai!ed
within the city. Mr. Mayhew's doubts concerning
the implementation of the scheme for full inter
nationalization were shared by the Government of
Israel, although the latter continued to favour an
international regime for the Holy Places.

'..

: . ~5

t.",< .... :.,!':.)i.,.~,~::.o/k.~?L~:~!!l1~~t)i4'''M~o;J,I'f,t;M'''''',.,ft~i,,;.·ij~"19:'·i"1ti.:i,(.<i'··"'i·;;·i(1itf"'f1i't~j!,'~!'<I$~'" :(l)~~~~n,~rr~_~:~,. ~.~••~~"~~~~,.••---_••

le
ru
rH
ri
nit
'0

Ire
l'a
mt
M.
de
ue

io-
29

)r

rn
de

~st

mt
mt
a

se,
In
)rt
au
oit
la
'a
on
le
ur
les
de

et
Lrt
n
les
nt
:a
lal
.es
.er
Ia
et
Lln
,U

du
tte
He
te
Lln
-a
on

se
de
l1X

on
le

de
x
le
~r

'e
ce
ir
mt
on
:es



of that project. That failure was due rather to the
armed resistance of the Arab States and the re
fusal of United Nations organs to assume the ob
ligations necessary for the fulfilment of the
Statute.

The Government of Israel advocated the estab
lishment by the United Nations of an interna
tional regime for Jerusalem concerned exclusively
with the control and protection of Holy Places,
and would co-operate with such a regime.

It would also agree to place under international
control Holy Places in parts of its territory out
side Jerusalem, and supported the suggestion that
guarantees should be given for the protection of
the Holy Places in Palestine and for free access
thereto.

It was prepareu to offer the fullest safeguards
and guarantees for the security of religious insti
tutions in the exercise of their functions, and to
negotiate immediately. with all religious authori
ties concerned with that end in view. In fact,
negotiations of that nature had already been
opened netween the Government of Israel. and the
Papal Envoy to Jerusalem. SImilar negotiations
had also begun with Governments interested in
obtaining the safeguards in question, notably the
Government of France.

The Israeli Government would persevere in its
efforts to repair the damage inflicted on religious
buildings and sites in the course of the war
launched by the Arab States. Israel regarded with
satisfaction its part in the restoration of peace and
order essential to reverent care for the Holy
Places and sites.

Integration of the Jewish part of Jerusalem
into the life of the State of Israel had occurred
as a natural historical process arising from the
conditions of war, the vacuum of authority ere
ated by the termination of the Mandate, and the
refusal of the United Nations to assume a direct
administrative responsibility on the scene. That
integration, which was parallelled by a similar
process in the Arab area, was not incompatible
with the establishment of an international regime
with full juridical status, for the protection of
Holy Places, no matter where situated. One or
more proposals on that subject would be submit
ted by Israel to the fourth session of the General
Assembly. A proposal of that nature had already
been submitted to the Conciliation Commission by
the Prime Minister of Israel, as was mentioned in
the second progress report of that Commission.

The Government of Israel would continue to
seek agreement with the Arab interests concerned
in the maintenance and preservation of peace and
the reopening of blocked access into and within
Jerusalem. Negotiations on that subject would
not, however, affect the juridical status of Jerusa
lem, to be defined by international consent.

The Government. of Israel noted a disposition
on the part of the Conciliation Commission and

echec est dii a la resistance armee des Etats ara
bes et au fait que les organes de l'Organisatio~
des Nations Unies ont refuse d'assumer les obli
gations qui auraient permis de mettre ce Statut en
application.

Le Gouvernement d'Israel preconise pour Je'
rusalem l'etablissement par l'Organisation des
Nations Unies d'un regime international destine
exclusivement au controle et a la protection des
Lieux saints; il serait pret a accorder sa collabora
tion a ce regime.

Il consentirait egalement a placer sous controle
international les Lieux saints situes sur son terri
toire en dehors de la Ville de Jerusalem. Il appuie
la suggestion selon laquelle il convient de garantir
la protection et le libre acces des Lieux saints en
Palestine.

Le Gouvernement d'Israel est pret a offrir les ga
ranties les plus completes pour assurer la securite
des institutions religieuses dans l'exercice de leurs
fonctions; il est pret a negocier immediatement
a ces fins avec toutes les autorites religieuses in
teressees, D'ailleurs, ces negociations ont deja
commence et des contracts ont ete etablis entre
mon Gouvernement et le cardinal Vergani, En
voye du Vatican a Jerusalem. Des negociations
analogues ont egalement commence avec des Gou
vernements qui ont interet a obtenir les garanties
en question, et en particulier avec le Gouverne
ment de la France, ,. ~

Le Gouvernement d'Israel poursuivra ses
efforts en vue de restaurer les edifices et
les sites religieux endommages au cours de
la guerre declenchee par les Etats arabes, Le Gnu
vernement d'Israel est fier de la part qu'il a prise
au retablissement de la paix et de l'ordre qui sont
essentiels pour assurer aux Lieux saints et awe
sites religieux le respect et les soins qui leur sont
dus. .

L'integration de la partie juive de Jerusalem a
la vie de l'Etat d'Israel s'est operee dans le cadre
du processus historique naturel provoque par
l'etat de guerre par l'absence d'autorite qu'a
causee la fin du Mandat et par le fait que
l'Organisation des Nations Unies a refuse
d'assumer sur les lieux une responsabilite
administrative directe. Cette integration, a laquelle
correspond un processus similaire en zone arabe,
n'est pas incompatible avec l'etablissement d'un
regime international ayant pleine autorite juri
dique etassurant la protection efficace des Lieux
saints, ou qu'ils soient situes. Le Gouvernement
d'Israel presenters a ce sujet une ou plusieurs
propositions au cours de la quatrieme session de
l'Assemblee generale. Son Premier Ministre a
deja soumis une proposition de cette nature a la
Commission de conciliation, comme l'indique le
deuxieme rapport de cette derniere sur l'evolu
tion de la situation.

Le Gouvernement d'Israel continuera de recher
cher des accords avec les groupements arabes in
teresses au maintien et a la preservation de la
paix, comme a la reouverture, a l'entree et a la
sortie, des routes donnant dans la ville de Jeru
salem. Ces negociations n'affecteront cependant
pas le Statut juridique de Jerusalem, tel qu'il
sera defini par accord international.

Le Gouvernement d'Israel remarque que la
Commission de conciliation et divers Etats Mem-

I
!

.~,
i



ra
on
)li-
en

J"e-
ies
ine
ies
ra-

cle
'ri
uie
rtir
en

la
~ ,
'Ite
IUS
ent
111-
eja
tre
~n-

>11S
)U

:les
lle-

" ~

ses
et
de

::ru
'1se
Dnt
uix

Dnt

1 a
~re

par
u'a
lue
use
lite
elle
.be,
'un
iri
sux
ent
urs
de

, la
le

llu-

ier
in-
la

, la
rl1
ant
u'it

la
em-

r

individual Member States to formulate new pro
posals for the effective and practical satisfaction
of international interests with regard to J erusalem,
and would give its full attention to all such pro
posals, in the firm belief that the United Nations
should assume only such responsibilities as it was'
willing and able to exercise and as did not not
exceed the limits required for the genuine satis
faction of universal religious interests. It noted
the General Assembly. resolution of 11 December
1948, providing for the discussion of a lasting so
lution of the Jer salern problem at its fourth regu
lar session, and hoped to contribute either by
commenting on proposals put forward or hy sub
mitting proposals of its own.

The Government of Israel drew attention to the
existence of profound Jewish religious interests
which gave Jerusalem a central and abiding pl~ce
in Jewish spiritual life.. All th~ sacred assocl.a
tions of Jerusalem derived ultimately from Its
Jewish origins. The preservation of synagogues
and the right of access to the Wailing Wall and of
residence within the Old City required interna
tional guarantees and implementation.

Those views of the Government of Israel were
fully in accord with the principles of the Charter,
the General Assembly resolution of 11 December
1948 and the views of many Members of the
United Nations. The conscientious regard which
the Government of Israel had shown and would
continue to show both for international interests
and for the welfare of its own population entitled
it to regard its record on Jerusalem as its highest
credit.

Mr..Eban then pointed out that the problem of
the Arab refugees had been a direct consequence
of the launching of a war for the purpose of over
throwing by force the General Assembly's No
vember 1947 resolution on partition. No great
movements of population would have occurred if
the Arab world would have joined with Israel in
an attempt to give peaceful implementation to that
resolution. Such tragic movements were a familiar
accompaniment of any war, and especially of wars
affecting countries of mixed populations and con
flicting allegiances. The representative of Lebanon
had correctly remarked that it had never been the
General Assembly's intention that the Arab popu
lation should be driven out of Palestine. But
neither had it been its intention that Lebanon and
six other States should wage war upon Israel,
a war of which tlte plight of the Arab population
of Palestine was a direct sequel.

The exodus of the Arab population had already
assumed large proportions by the time the Gov
ernment of Israel had been established. Efforts by
that Government to stem the flood of refugees had
been unavailing. A vivid account of the circum
stances could be found in the April 1949 issue of
The Economist of London. The French representa
tive on the Conciliation Commission, who had
undertaken a detailed interrogation of Arab refu
gees, had stated at a meeting of the Commission
on 7 Apri11949 that it was wrong to describe the
refugees as having been driven out; rather, they
had fled in an atmosphere of fear, insecurity and
danger inseparable from war.

bres semblent disposes a formuler de nouvelles
propositions pour satisfaire d'une facon effective
et pratique les interets internationaux en ce qui
concerne Jerusalem. 11 donnera toute son attention
a des propositions de eet ordre, etant fermement
convaincu que l'Organisation des Nations U nies
ne doh assumer que les responsabilites dont elle
est desireuse et capable de se charger et qui ne
depassent pas les limites que requiert la satisfac
tion reelle des interets religieux universels. 11
note que, par sa resolution du 11 decembre 1948,
l'Assernblee generale a decide de discuter, a sa
quatrieme session ordinaire, la solution definitive
du problerne de Jerusalem, et it espere contribuer
a la discussion, soit en commentant les proposi- .
tions qui seraient presentees, soit en soumettant
lui-meme des propositions.

Le Gouvernement d'Israel attire l'attention sur
les sentiments religieux profonds qui font a tout
jamais de Jerusalem le centre de la vie spirituelle
juive. Le caractere sacre de Jerusalem derive tout
entier, en dernier ressort,de ses origines juives.
La protection des synagogues, le droit d'acces au
Mu!" des lamentations et le droit de residence a
I'interieur de la vieille Ville exigent une applica
tion et des garanties internationales.

Ces vues du Gouvernement d'Israel sont entiere
ment conformes aux principes de la Charte, a la
resolution adoptee le 11 decembre 1948 par l'As
semblee generale et a I'opinion de nombreux
Membres de l'Organisation des Nations U nies; Le
respect profond dont le Gouvernement d'Israel
a fait preuve et continuera de faire preuve, tant a
l'egard des interets internationaux qu'a l'egard
du bien-etre de sa propre population, lui donne le
droit d'etre fier de I'oeuvre qu'il a accomplie a
Jerusalem.

M. Eban fait remarquer que le probleme des
refugies arabes a ete la consequence directe d'une
guerre provoquee dans l'intention d'annuler par
la force la resolution de l'Assemblee generale sur
le partage adopte en novembre 1947. Aueun
111011Vement important de populations ne se serait
produit si le 1110nde arabe s'etait joint a Israel
pour s'efforcer de mettre en ceuvre cette resolu
tion d'une facon pacifique. Ces mouvements, si
tragiques soient-ils, sont un aspect familier de
toute guerre et tout specialement des guerres qui
eclatent dans des pays de population non homo
gene et de croyances diverses, Le representant du
Liban a eu raison de faire remarquer que l'As
semblee generale n'avant jamais desire que la
population arabe fftt expulsee de Palestine. Mais
il n'a jamais non plus ete de son intention que le
Liban et six autres Etats fissent la guerre a Israel,
une guerre dont la misere de la population arabe
de Palestine est la consequence directe.

L'exode de la population arabe avait d'ailleurs
deja pris des proportions considerables au mo
ment ou le Gouvernement d'Israel a ete consti
tue. Le Gouvernement s'est en vain efforce d'en
diguer le flot des refugies. Le numero d'avril1949
de l'Economist de Londres donne un recit pris sur
le vif de ce qui s'est passe. Le representant de la
France a la Commission de conciliation, qui a
interroge en detail des refugies arabes, a declare,
le 7 avril 1949, a une seance de la Commission,
qu'il etait faux de dire que les refugies avaient
ete chasses de Palestine; its avaient plutot fui,
dans cette atmosphere de peur, d'insecurite et de
danger qui est inseparable de toute guerre.

237



So many passions had been aroused by the
problem of refugees that the issue of initial re
sponsibility presented itself again and again. That
responsibility lay with the Arab States which, by
virtue of having proclaimed and initiated the war
which had rendered those refugees homeless, were
under moral obligation to take a full share in the
solution of their problem, even apart from their
own ties of kinship with the refugee population.

Mr. Eban took exception to the terms of the
preamble to the Lebanese draft resolution which
implied that the Conciliation Commission's con
versation with the Prime Minister of Israel on
7 April 1949 had proved that the Israel Govern
ment's attitude to the question of repatriation was
a negative one. The second progress report of the
Commission showed that one of the chief points
stressed by the Prime Minister of Israel on that
occasion was that the refugee question should be
examined and solved in the course of the general
negotiations for the estabUshment of peace in
Palestine. That view could hardly be challenged.
The rehabilitation of displaced persons could not
take place while the countries of the Near East
were divided by armistice lines, while peaceful
contact was not assured, while considerations of
military security were still paramount, while all
movements of the population, whether refugee or
not, were subject to the restrictions of a wartime
regime, and while the economic and social effort
required for such rehabilitation was paralysed by
mobilization and a war economy. Indeed it was
particularly urgent that peace negotiations should
be initiated, because only such negotiations could
open the way to the solution of the grave humani
tarian problem of refugees.

Furthermore, the restrictive conditions laid
down by the General Assembly itself, such as that
those who wished to "live in peace with their
neighbours", should be permitted to return to
their homes, clearly presupposed a situation of
peace and excluded the possibility of a renewal
of hostilities. Similarly, the reference in the reso
lution of 11 December 1948 to the "earliest prac
ticable date" was also a definite acknowledgment
of the fact that the restoration of normal condi
tions was essential to any fruitful discussion on
the proportion of refugees willing and able to
return, as against those eligible for resettlement
and compensation. In stressing the need for a
peace settlement as a condition for solving that
problem, the Government of Israel was concerned
not to postpone a solution but to accelerate the
achievement of peace.

The second point stressed by the Prime Min
ister of Israel was that his Government did. not
exclude the possibility of a measure of repatria
tion. The third point, as set forth in the Con
ciliation Commission's second progress report that
the Israeli Government recognized the humani
tarian aspect of the problem and the opportunity
it would have to take part in the efforts necessary
for its solution in a spirit of sincere co-operation.
Any Arab refugee to be rehabilitated either in
Israel or in an Arab country would have to under
go a complicated process of resettlement. It was
therefore legitimate to weigh the relative virtues
of resettlement in the different countries of the

Le probleme des refugies a souleve tant de
passions que la question de la responsabilite ini
tiale se.pose et se repose sans cesse. Cette respon
sabilite incombe pourtant aux Etats arabes qui,
apres .avoir proclame et declenche la guerre qui a
chasse ces refugies de leurs foyers, sont morale
ment obliges de prendre pleinement part ala so
lution du probleme sans meme parler des liens de
race qui les unissent cl la population refugiee.

M. Eban s'eleve contre Ies termes du pream
bule du projet de resolution du Liban qui laissent
entendre que, au cours de la conversation qui a
eu lieu le 7 avril 1949 entre la Commission de
conciliation et le Premier Ministre d'Israel, le
Gouvernement d'Israel aurait adopte une attitude
negative cl l'egard du rapatriement des refugies,
11 ressort aucontraire du deuxierne rapport de
la Commission que le Premier Ministre d'Israel
a specialement insiste, cl cette occasion, sur le fait
que la question des refugies devait etre examinee
et resolue dans le cadre des negociations generales
pour le retablissement de la paix en Palestine. On
ne peut guere contester ce point de vue. Le rapa
triernent des personnes deplacees ne pourra s'ope
rer tant que les pays du Proche-Orient seront di
vises par des lignes d'armistice, tant que des re
lations pacifiques ne seront pas assurees, tant que
les considerations de securite militaire auront le
pas sur toutes les autres, tant que les mouvements
de population, qu'il s'agisse de refugies ou non,
seront soumis aux restrictions' d'un regime de
guerre, et enfin tant que l'effort economique et
social que la reinstallation des refugies sera para
lyse par la mobilisation et par .l'economie de
guerre. En verite, il est particulierement urgent
d'ouvrir des negociations de paix car c'est unique...
ment de ces negociations que peut sortir la solu
tion du grave probleme humanitaire qui se pose
cl propos des refugies.

En outre, les restrictions etablies par l'Assem
blee elle-meme, qui a prevu qu'on permettrait
cl ceux des refugies qui desirent "vivre en paix
avec leurs voisins", de retourner dans leurs
foyers presupposent nettement une situation de
paix et excluent l'hypothese d'un renouveau d'hos
tilites, De rneme, en inscrivant dans sa resolution
du 11 decembre 1948 les mots "aussitot que pos
sible", l'Assemblee a nettement reconnu que toute
discussion profitable sur la proportion des refu
gies desireux et capables de revenir dans leurs
foyers, par opposition a ceux qui auraient droit cl
la reinstallation et cl une compensation, exige un
retour prealable it la vie normale. En insistant
sur le fait que la conclusion de la paix est neces
saire cl la solution de ce probleme, le Gouverne
ment d'Israel n'a pas l'intention de retarder cette
so~ution, mais bien d'accelerer la signature de la
parx.

Le deuxieme point sur lequel a insiste le Pre
mier Ministre d'Israel, c'est que son Gouverne
ment n'exclut pas la possibilite d'un rapatriement
partiel. Le troisieme point, tel qu'il figure dans le
deuxieme rapport interimaire, c'est que le Gou
vernement d'Israel reconnait I'aspect humanitaire
du probleme et est pret it participer, dans un es
prit de cooperation sincere, aux efforts que neces
site sa solution. Le relevement economique de
chacun des refugies arabes qui devront etre rein
stalles, soit en Israel, soit dans un pays arabe,
exigera un processus complique. 11 est done legi
time, voire necessaire, de bien peser, compte tenu
des relations it venir entre Arabes et Juifs, des

r

.1
;.,

238



nt de
:e ini
~spo~

s qUI,
qui a

orale
la so
ens de
~.

ream
Issent
qui a
on de
el, le
titude
ugies.
)rt de
Israel
le fait
minee
erales
e. On
rapa-
s'ope
nt di
es re
tt que
>nt le
ments

non,
le de
ue et
para
ie de
,~gent

uque-
solu
pose

ssem
~ttrait

paix
leurs
In de
l'hos
.ution
pos

toute
refu
leurs
roit a
~e un
istant
ieces
erne
cette
de la

Pre
erne
ment
ns le
Gou
itaire
n es
eces
e de
rein
rabe,
legi-
tenu
, des

l
r

t
~
I
i
J

•

Near East in the light of long-term Arab-Jewish
relations of economic possibilities in the countries
concerned, and of the genuine interests of the
refugees themselves.

The Government of Israel had not taken any
irrevocable decision. It was reluctant to commit
itself either for or against any particular formula
for a solution, and regarded the question of refu
gees as the main one which should form the sub
ject of early negotiations under the auspices of the
Conciliation Commission. The.clear prospect of a
genuine peacemaking effort, including the delimi
tation of frontiers, was so fundamental a requisite
of any serious discussion that the Government of
Israel found it difficult to state its principles more
specifically until that prospect had matured. Israel
was about to embark on negotiations with the
Arab States, during which the latter might try to
evade their share of responsibility in the matter
and to place the full burden on Israel alone, as
the Lebanese representative had suggested. It
would be unfair to demand of the Israeli Govern
ment what was not demanded of the Arab side,
namely a full and detailed statement of the exact
extent of its possible contribution.

Israel had noted the general desire to learn its
attitude with regard to the matter. Statements in
the Press and within the United Nations had por
trayed the attitude of the Government of Israel
in an unjustifiably negative light. In calling atten
tion to the advantages inherent in a regional pro
gramme of resettlement, the Government of Israel
might inadvertently have conveyed the impression
that it would refuse to make any contribution to
a solution. In order to dispel that misapprehen
sion, the representative of Israel- was authorized
by his Government to make the following state
ment of the principles governing its approach to
the matter:

1. The problem of the Arab refugees was a
direct consequence of the war launched by the
Arab States which were entirely responsible for
that as well as for other forms of suffering in
flicted by that war;

2. The ensuing problem had raised a humani
tarian issue and also had serious implications for
the future peace, development and welfare of the
Middle East. The Government of Israel believed
that a solution of the problem was inseparably
linked with a solution of the outstanding issues
between it and the Arab States and that no satis
factory solution was possible except by the restora
tion of peace in the Middle East. A solution
could be found only within a final settlement cre
ating conditions of co-operation between Israel
and its neighbours;

3. The Government of Israel was earnestly
anxious to contribute to the solution of that
problem although the problem was not of its mak
ing. That anxiety proceeded from moral consid
erations and from Israel's vital interest in stable
conditions throughout the Middle East. Any re
habilitation of Arab refugees in any part of the
Middle East, .whether in Israel or in the neigh
bouring countries, involved intricate tasks of re
settlement. The two most widely advocated prin-

possibilites economiques des pays interesses et des
interets reels des refugies eux-memes, les avan
tages relatifs de la reinstallation dans les differents
pays du Proche-Orient.

Le Gouvernement d'Israel n'a pas pris de de
cision irrevocable. Il repugne a se prononcer pour
oucontre .telleou telle iormule de solution et, ason
avis, c'est le probleme des refugies qui presente le
plus d'importance et qui devrait etre discute aussi
tot que possible, sous les auspices de la Commission
de conciliation. Avant d'entreprendretoute discus
sion serieuse, il faut qu'il soit manifeste que l'on
desire vraiment faire un effort pour ramener la
paix et, entre autres facteurs, pour delimiter les
frontieres, Tant qu'il n'apparaitra pas clairement
que ce desir existe, il sera difficile au Gouvernement
d'Israel de faire connaitre d'une maniere plus pre
cise sa position de principe. Israel est a la veille
d'engager avec les Etats arabes des negociations
au cours desquelles ces Etats chercheront peut
etre, comme l'a laisse entendre le representant d.
Liban, a eluder les responsabilites qui leur incom
bent et a en faire peser tout le poids sur Israel.
Il serait injuste d'exiger du Gouvernement d'Is
rael ce que l'on n'exige pas des Gouvernements
arabes, a savoir une declaration claire et detailtee
de la contribution qu'il est pret a apporter a la
solution du probleme.

Israel a pris note du desir general de connai
tre sa position en la matiere. Dans la presse et a
l'Organisation des Nations Unies elle-meme, cer
tains ont decrit l'attitude d'Israel sous un aspect
negatif que rien ne justifie. En insistant sur les
avantages que presenterait un programme de ree
tablissement regional des refugies, le Gouverne
ment d'Israel a peut-etre, sans le vouloir, donne
it croire qu'il refuserait de contribuer a la solution
du probleme. Afin de dissiper tout doute a ce su
jet, le representant d'Israel a ete autorise par son
Gouvernement it faire la declaration suivante sur
les principes dont s'inspire ce Gouvernement en la
matiere :

1. Le probleme des refugies arabes constitute
une consequence directe de la guerre declenchee
par les Etats arabes; ce sont ces derniers qui en
portent toutela responsabilite, comme ils portent
la responsabilite des autres souffrances,provoquees
par cette guerre;

2. Ce probleme presente un aspect humanitaire
et a d'importantes repercussions sur la paix, le
progres et le bien-etre du Proche-Orient. Le
Gouvernement d'Israel estime que la solution de
ce probleme est indissolublement liee a la solution
des questions en suspens entre Israel et les Etats
arabes et qu'on ne saurait la trouver que dans le
retablissement de la paix dans le Proche-Orient.
Cette solution ne peut etre etablie que dans le
cadre d'un reglement dcfinitif qui poserait les
b!1ses de la cooperation entre Israel et ses voi
sms :

3. Bien que ce probleme ne se soit pas pose de
son fait, le Gouvernement d'Israel est, tant pour
des raisons morales qu'a cause de l'interet que
presente pour lui la stabilite dans tout le Proche
Orient, vivement desireux de contribuer it sa so
lution. Le retour des refugies arabes it une exis
tence normale, dans quelque partie du Proche
Orient qu'il s'effectue, que ce soit en Israel ou
dans les pays voisins, posera un serieux probleme
de reinstallation. Les solutions que .l'on propose

239



.1
!
j
t:

I
\

generalement sont les suivantes: a) reinstallation
des refugies dans les localites memes d'ou ils ont
fui. Cela donnerait naissance a un grave probleme
de minorite nationale et pourrait constituer une
menace a la paix et a la stabilite interieure du
pays. D'autre part, en adoptant cette solution, on
placerait un grand nombre d'Arabes sous l'ad
ministrationd'un Gouvernement qui, tout en etant
decide a suivre lapolitique la. plus liberale en ma
tiere de minorites, differe par la langue, la cul
ture, la religion et les institutions economiques et
sociales; b) la reinstallation des refugies dans des
regions controlees par un Gouvernement dont
l'esprit et la tradition sont les memes que les leurs,
regions Ott ces refugies pourraient etre absorbes
immediatement et sans heurts. L'etude de la situa
tion economique et du problerne de l'irrigation,
dans les regions insuffisamment peuplees et insuf~
fisamment developpees des Etats arabes, revele
que cette solution presente des possibilites beau
coup plus grandes que celle de la reinstallation •
des refugies en Israel.· Aussi le Gouvernement
d'Israel considere-t-ilque c'est le principe de. la
reinstallation dans les regions environnantes qui
doit etre considere comme la methode principale
de solution du probleme des refugies. Neanmoins, .
Israel sera toujours pret a apporter sa contribu
tion a cette solution, On ne sait encore combien
d'Arabes seraient desireux de rentreraux condi
tions que I'Assembles pourrait prescrire, ni com
bien d'entre eux Israel pourrait recevoir, compte
tenu des conditions economiques et politiques ac
tuelles. A Lausanne, Israel s'efforcera avant tout
d'arriver, au moyen de negociations directes, a
un accord sur la contribution que chaque Gouver
nement devra fournir pour la solution de ce grave
problems. L'importance de la contribution d'Is
rael dependra entierernent de l'etablissemenr for
mel de la paix et de relations de bon voisinage
entre lui et les Etats arabes;

4. Le Gouvernernent d'Israel a deja fait savoir
qu'il accep .!it l'obligation de verser une indernnite
pour les terrains abandonnes. Toute cette ques
tion des indemnites, ainsi que la question desre
parations et des dommages de guerre dans son
ensemble, pourra etre reglee a Lausanne, par
voie de negociations ;

5. Le Gouvernement d'Israel affirme une fois
de plus qu'il s'engage a assurer la protection des
personnes et des biens de toutes les comrnunautes
etablies a l'interieur de ses frontieres, Il s'oppo
sera a toute mesure discriminatoire ou a toute in
gerence en ce qui concerne les droits et les libertes
des minorites. Le Gouvernement d'Israel souhaite
vivement le retablissement de l'etat de paix, qui
permettra de mettre fin a toutes restrictions a la
liberte des personnes et a la libre disposition des
biens. Maintenant que l'armistice est en vigueur
et que les pourparlers de paix ont commence, it
ne serait que logique de s'attendre a ce que les
Etats arabes contribuent a la detente generale en
declarant eux aussi qu'ils sont prets a lever toutes
les mesures prises contre les citoyens juifs qui
vivent sur leur territoire et a assurer de nouveau
aces derniers la liberte et l'egalite de traitement.
11 y a lieu de remarquer que la situation faite aux
Juifs dans les pays arabes a preoccupe si vivement
le Conseil economique et social qu'il a formelle
ment soumis ce point au Conseil de securite1 ;

6. Pleinement conscient des problemes humani
taires qui se posent, le Gouvernement d'Israel suit

1 Voir 5/1291.

6. Deeply conscious of the humanitarian prob
lerm! involved, the Government of Israel observed

1 See S/1291.

4. The Government of Israel had already an
nounced its acceptance of obligations to make com
pensation for abandoned lands. The entire ques
tion of compensation as well as the general ques
tion of reparations and war damage might well
be settled by negotiations at Lausanne;

ciples were (a) resettlement of the refugees in
the places from which they had fled, thus creating
a large minority problem and a possible menace to
internal peace and stability and also placing
masses of Arabs under the rule of a Government
which, while committed to an enlightened minority
policy, was not akin to those Arabs in language,
culture, religion or social or economic institutions;
(b) the resettlement of the refugees in areas where
they would live under a Government akin to them
in spirit and tradition and in which their smooth
integration would be immediately possible with no
resultant friction. A study of the economic, irriga
tion and other potentialities of the under-popu
lated and under-developed areas of the Arab States
revealed greater possibilities for a stable solution
by the latter method than by resettlement in
Israel. Therefore, the Government of Israel con
tended that resettlement in neighbouring areas
should be considered as the main principle of
solution. Israel, however, would be ready to make
its own contribution to a solution of the prob
lem. It was not yet ascertainable how many Arabs
wished to return under conditions that might be
prescribed by the Assembly or how many Arabs
Israel could receive in the light of existing po
litical and economic considerations. Israel's first
objective at Lausanne would be to reach an agree
ment by direct negotiation on the contribution to
be made by each Government toward the settle
ment of that grave problem. The extent of the
contribution of the Israeli Government would
depend entirely on the formal establishment of
peace and relations of good neighbourliness be
tween Israel and the Arab States;

240

5. The Government of Israel reaffirmed its
obligation to protect the persons and property of
a11 communities living within its borders. It would
discountenance any discrimination or interference
with the -rights and liberties of individuals or
groups forming such minorities. The Government
of Israel looked forward to the restoration of
peaceful conditions which might enable relaxation
of any restrictions on the liberty of persons or
property. Now that all armistice prevailed and
peace talks had begun, it would he reasonable to
expect the Arab Governments to contribute to an
improvement in the atmosphere hy a similar
declaration of willingness to discontinue measures
instituted against Jewish citizens in their coun
tries and to restore their full freedom and equality
of status. It was to be noted that the Economic
and Social Council was so perturbed by the situa
tion of Jews in Arab countries that it had for
mally submitted an item to the Security Council' ;



avec sympathie les efforts que les organisations
internationales et les institutions gouvernementa
les et non gouvernementales poursuivent pour
alleger les souffrances que la guerre a fait subir
aux refugies, Le Gouvernement d'Israel est pret a
contribuer a ces efforts;

7. Le Gouvernement d'Israel est convaincu que
la stabilite du Moyen-Orient, qui presente pour
lui une importance primordiale, se trouve com
promise du fait que ces souffrances se prolongent
et que la solution finale se trouve retardee.

with sympathy the efforts of international, govern
mental and non-governmental agencies to alleviate
the immediate plight of those refugees suffering
hardships as a result of the war. The Government
of Israel was prepared to lend its assistance to
those efforts;

7. The Government of Israel felt deeply that
prolongation of that distress without alleviation
and final settlement undermined the stability of
the Middle East, the maintenance of which was its
vital interest.

Aucune autre declaration ne peut etre consi
deree comrne l'expression autorisee de l'attitude
du Gouvernement d'Israel en cette maziere. Ce .
Gouvernement espere que, devant la possibilite
reelle d'aboutir it un reglement, si 1'011 considere
les pays du Moyen-Orient tels qu'ils sont et si
1'011 examine objectivement tons les projets de
reinstallation des refugies, lee Gouvernements in
teresses entameront des negociations de paix qui
permettront de determiner la contribution que
chacun d'eux devra apporter et le montant de
l'assistance qu'il faudra demander a la cornmu
naute internationale. Cette facon d'envisager le
probleme est entierement conforrne it l'opinion
de ceux qui ont une connaissance approfondie de
ce probleme. C'est ainsi que la Commission de
conciliation fait observer elle-meme, dans son
deuxieme rapport sur l'evolution de la situation,
que "la Commission est d'avisque le problem
des refugies ne pourra etre resolu d'une manien
perrnanente si d'autres questions politiques, no
tamment la question des frontieres, ne sont pas
reglees egalement",

M. Eban expose ensuite les vues de son Gouver
nement sur la question des frontieres qui, fait-il
remarquer, ne parait pas constituer un obstacle
important a une solution. Le fait qu'un Etat arabe
n'a pas ete cree dans la partie de la Palestine dont
parle la resolution du 29 novembre 1947, d'une
part, et les circonstances creees par la guerre et
par l'occupation militaire, d'autre part, ont rendu
necessaire un processus d'adaptation pacifique des
clauses territoriales de cette resolution. L'Assem
blee generale elle-meme a constate a, deux repri
se~ qu'une telle, adaptation pacifique etait neces
salre et les representants ont meme fait de temps
it a~t!e <;les propositions tendant a apporter des
modifications aux dispositions territoriales con
tenues dans cettc resolution. Le Gouvernement
d'I~r~el a, au.co~rs <;le l~ premiere partie de la
trols~eme session, declare que cette adaptation
devait s'effectuer, non pas par la voie de modifica
tions arbitraires imposees de l'exterieur, mail! au
moyen d'accords librement negocies par les Gou
yernemen~s !n~e!esses. Ce principe a ete approuve
a "!ne majorite ecrasante par I'A ssemblee generate
qui n'a voulu approuver aucune modification ter
ritoriale precise et qui a traite le probleme au
parag~aphe 5 de la resolution 194 (Ill) qui invite
':les Gouvernemenrs et les autorites interesses a
etendre le domaine des negociations prevues par

I la resolution du Conseil de securite du 16 novern
: b~e 1?4~e'~ it ~ec~ercher u~ accord par voie de

negociations, soit directes, sou avec la Commission
de conciliation, en vue d'un reglement definitif de

i toutes les questions sur lesqueltes its ne se soot pas
, encore mis d'accord",

1 See Official Records of the third sessio» of the General 1 V' I
A.r.rembly, Part 1. First Committee, 208th meeting, I oir et Documents o/Jifiels de la troi.riemt scssio« de

I 14ssenrbll t generalc, ~,.em.e,.e partie, Premiere Commis
"Aon, 208eme seance.

Mr. Eban then stated the views of his Gov
ernme~t on the boundary q1.!estion, remarking that
they did not seem to constitute a major obstacle
on the road to a settlement. The fact that an Arab
State had not arisen in the part of Palestine
envisaged by the resolution of 29 November 1947,
as well as the circumstances of war and military
occupa~ion, rendered essential a process of peace
ful adjustment of the territorial provisions laid
~own in that .resolution, The General Assembly
Itself had twice endorsed the need of such a
peaceful adjustment and its representatives had
~ven from time to time made pr~p()sals for effect
mg changes_in the territorial dispositions of that
resolution. The view expounded by the Israeli
Government during the first part of the third ses
sion! was that the adjustment should be made not
by arbitrary changes imposed from outside but
through agreements freely negotiated by the Gov
ernment~ concerned. That principle had COIl)

mended Itself to the overwbelming majority of the
General Assembly which had declined to endorse
any specific territorial changes and had dealt with
the problem in paragraph' 5 of resolution 194
.(~II) which called upon Governments and author
1~le~ concerne~ to extend the scope of the nego
tlatlon~ provided for in the Security Council
resolution of 16 November 1948 and to seek
agreement by negotiations conducted either with
the Conciliation Commission or directlv with a
Ylew to a final settlement of all questions outstand
mg between them,

No other statement of view could be accurately
taken as an authoritative expression of the Israeli
Government's attitude on that question. Its hope
was that with the clear prospect of a settlement,
taking the, Near Eastern countries as they were,
and examining all schemes of refugee settlement
on their merits, the Governments concerned would
enter into peace negotiations which would lead to
an agreed formula on the exact contribution to
be made by each Government concerned and the

'amount of assistance required from the interna
tional community. That line of approach was fullv
in accord with the views of those in close contact
with the problem. Thus the Conciliation Commis
sion itself had declared in its second progress re
port that "the Commission is of the opinion that
the refugee problem cannot be permanently solved
unless other political questions, notably the ques
tions of boundaries, are also solved"..

j
"
I

J...\r

t
r

1

I
I
I

itallation
~ its ont
irobleme
:uer une
eure du
rtion, on
IUS l'ad
en etant
~ en ma
I la cut
riques et
tlans des
nt dont
es leurs,
absorbes
la situa
rigation,
et insuf-

, 'Ii, reve e
~s beau
tallation •
rnement
le de la
rites qui
rincipale
mrnoins, ,
ontribu
comhien
c condi-
ni com-
compte

ques ac
ant tout
ectes, it
Gouver
ze grave
m d'Is
ent for
oisinage

t savoir
demnite
:e ques-
des re

ans son
ne, par

me fois
:ion des
ttnautes
s'oppo-
oute in
libertes
iouhalte
aix, qui
ms it la
" dnon p~

vigueur
ence, it
que les
;rale en
r toutes
Jifs qui
iouveau
tement.
Lite aux
ivement
irmelle
ite1 ,,
iumani
'aSI suit



Israel interpreted that resolution as ;I, directive
to the Governments concerned to settle their ter
ritorial and other differences and ciaims by a
process of negotiation. It was understood that the
Conciliation Commission shared that interpreta
tion and had indicated its willingness to commence
boundary discussions at an early stage of the
meetings in Lausanne. In that connexion Israel
drew encouragement from the success of the
armistice negotiations which had led to the estab
lishment of agreed demarcation lines between the
military forces of the Governments concerned.
.Those agreements had been reached through free
discussion and reciprocal concession. The United
Nations mediating agencies had attempted to lay
down no fixed principles but to leave the parties
to a process of unfettered negotiation, having in
mind the general interest of peace and stability
rather than the absolute assertion of unilateral
claims. It was to be presumed that the same pro
cess would be followed by the parties in the forth
coming boundary discussion.

Mr. Eban thought that the General Assembly
would rejoice in any territorial dispositions which
rested upon the agreement and consent of the
parties concerned. Membership in the United
Nations and the consequent protection of the
Charter would enable the Government of Israel
to see its prospects of territorial security in a more
hopeful light .and would thus contribute to the
rapid conclusion of agreements. The Commission's
view that a settlement of the question of boun
daries was essential for a permanent solution of
the refugee question reinforced the need for the
urgent institution of peace discussions.

Just as the views of the Israeli Government on
the question of the' Holy Places in Jerusalem
should be regarded as a legitimate opinion shared
by many thoughtful students of that problem, so
the idea that, the resettlement of Arab refugees
should be envisaged against the entire Near
Eastern background was commending itself in
creasingly to international opinion. Paragraph 13
of the second progress report of the Conciliation
Commission stated that neither repatriation to
Israel nor resettlement in Arab territories could
be carried out without preparatory work of a
technical nature and it advocated the setting up of
a technical committee.

In paragraph 14 of that report the Conciliation
Commission fully accepted the principle that the
refugees would be distributed among various coun
tries in the Near East, and stated that "in the
long run the final solution of the problem will be
found within the framework of the economic and
social rehabilitation of all the countries in the
Near East". '

The Committee would note that the principles
he had enunciated formally on behalf of his Gov
ernment did not differ fundamentally from the
line of thought pursued by the Conciliation Com
mission even though there was still a difference
of emphasis which might be adjudicated at the
Conference in Lausanne,

Israel envisaged the economic and social de
velopment of all the countries of the Near East

Israel interprete cette resolution comme une
invitation aux Gouvernements interesses de re
soudre leurs differends territoriaux et autres par
voie de negociations. On sait que la Commission
de conciliation partage cette interpretation et
qu'elle a indique qu'elle est disposee d'entrepren
dre la discussion sur les frontieres des les pre
mieres reunions de Lausanne. Israel se sent tres
encourage a cet egard par le succes des negocia
tions d'armistice qui ont abouti a un accord sur
la fixation des Iignes de demarcation entre les for
ces militaires des Gouvernements interesses, Ces
accords ont ete realises a la suite de Iibres discus
sions et de concessions reciproques, Les organes
de. mediation de l'Organisation des Nations Unies
n'ont pas essaye de fixer en cette matiere des prin
cipes rigides, mais ont Iaisse aux parties interes
sees pleine liberte de negociation, ayant plutot en
vue l'interet general de la paix et de la stabilite
que la satisfaction absolue de .revendications uni
laterales, 11 y a lieu de croire que les negociations
au sujet des frontieres, qui doivent avoir lieu sous
peu, s'inspireront du meme esprit.

M. Eban pense que l'Assemblee generale sera
heureuse de la conclusion de tout accord territo
rial fonde sur le consentement des parties interes
sees. Lorsque Israel fera partie de 1'0rganisation
des Nations Unies et beneficiera de la protection
de la Charte, son Gouvernement pourra envisager
avec plus d'espoir les perspectives de securite de
son territoire, ce qui facilitera la conclusion ra
pide d'accords. L'opinion exprimee par la Com
mission, d'apres laquelle le reglement desques
tions des frontieres est necessaire pour pouvoir
aboutir a une solution permanente du probleme
des refugies, ne fait qu'accroitre la necessite d'en
treprendre de toute urgence des negociations de
paix,

De meme que les vues du Gouvernement d'Is
rael au sujet de la question des Lieux saints de
Jerusalem doivent etre considerees comme une
opinion legitime partagee par un grand nombre
~:, personnes qui se sont penchees avec attention
sur ce probleme, l'idee que la reinstallation des
refugies arabes doit etre envisagee en tenant
compte de la situation dans le Proche-Orient tout
entier commence a gagner du terrain dans l'opi
nion internationale. Le paragraphe 13 du deuxi
erne rapport de la Commission de conciliation
declare que ni le rapatriement en Israel ni la reins
tallation dans les territoires arabes ne peuvent
etre effectues dans des conditions satisfaisantes
sans beaucoup de travail technique preparatoire:
ce paragraphe preconise ensuite la creation d'un
comite technique charge de cette tache.

, Au paragraphe 14 de son rapport, la Commis
sion de conciliation accepte entierement le principe
de repartition des refugies entre les divers pays
du Proche-Orient et declare que "a la longue, la
solution finale duprobleme sera trouvee 'Clans le
cadre de la reconstruction economique et sociale
de tous les pays du Proche-Orient".

L'orateur fait remarquer que' les principes qu'il
a enonces officiellement au nom de son Gouveme
ment ne different pas fondamentalement des idees
exprimees par la Commission de conciliation. It
est vrai qu'il y a une difference d'accent, mais
celle-ci pourra etre regtee au cours de la Confe
rence de Lausanne.

Israel considere que le developpement econo
mique et social de tous les pays du Proche-Orient

242



le une
de re
~e.s ~ar

mssion
ion et
'epren
~s pre
nt tres
~gocia

rd sur
es for
~s. Ces
discus
rganes
Unies

s prin
nteres
ItOt en
tabilite
1S uni
iations
:u sous

le sera
:errito
nteres
isation
tection
visager
rite de
on ra-

Com
ques

ouvoir
obleme
ed'en
:>ns de

t d'Is
nts de
le une
iombre
tention
on des
tenant
nt tout
i I'opi
deuxi
iliation
. reins
euvent
isantes
atoire;
n d'un

nnmis
rincipe
'S pays
gue, la
lans le
sociale

~s qu'il
rverne
s idees
ion. 11
:, mais
Confe-

,
econo-
Orient

,
"I
\

as a process which would be pursued as far as
possible within the framework of the United
Nations. Israel's duty and willingness to con
tribute to such programmes therefore reinforced
the urgency of favourable action by the General
Assembly on the Security Council'srecommenda
tion regarding Israel's admission to membership
in the United Nations.

Among other recent statements in that same
direction, the .Israeli Government had ·noted a
declaration made by Lord Henderson in, the
Rouse of Lords on behalf of the United King
dom: "Until there is a peace settlement be
tween the Jews and the Arabs, it will not be
known what, proportion of the Arab refugees
can be repatriated : . . but of greater effect will
be a programme of long term constructive plans
by which absorption and resettlement on a
large scale can be carried out for those who
cannot return to their old homes". Lord Hen
derson had mentioned specific irrigation pro
jects by which that urgent problem of Pales
tinian refugees could be tackled with success.

In quoting such statements in favour of re
settlement, he wished to emphasize again his
Government's readiness to make its own con
tribution in the context of a peace settlement.

Mr. Ebanthen came to the third and last
question raised in the preamble to the resolu
tion inviting him to the Committee, namely the
measures taken following the assassination in
Jerusalem of Count Folke Bernadotteand Colonel
Andre Serot, A report on that matter had been
submitted to the Security Council-<and had also
been conveyed by an envoy of the Israeli Gov
ernment to the Swedish Ministry of Foreign
Affairs in Stockholm. That communication con
tained a report of the police investigation and
court proceedings. He would not deny that it had
been a source of deep distress and acute mortifi
cation to the Government and people of Israel
that the record of the first year of their existence
as an independent nation should have been marred
by a despicable political assassination and that its
victim should have been a distinguished SOI1 of the
Swedish people representing the United Nations
itself. Despite all efforts to discover and bring to

'justice the perpetrators, and instigators of the
crime, the results had thus far been disappoint
ingly negative. It was useless to deny that there
had been a failure. In appraising that deplorable
situation the following considerations could not be
overlooked:

1. For several years prior to the establishment
of the State of Israel, Palestine had been af
flicted by political terrorism which had developed
as a pernicious form of reaction of the Jewish
population to the former regime;

2. At the time of the assassination, the organi
zation of internal security in the State of Israel
had been still in its initial stages. The police
force had not yet achieved the necessary degree
of internal stability and efficiency which would
have enabled it to cope swiftly and effectively
with that revolting crime. Political assassinations

1 See 5/1315.

doit s'accomplir, dans toute la mesure du possible,
dans le cadre de l'Organisation des Nations Unies.
Le fait qu'Israel se declare pret a contribuer a
l'execution de ce programme, et qu'il considere
qu'il y a la pour lui un devoir, n'est qu'un fac
teur de plus en faveur de l'adoption par l'Assem
blee generale de la recommandation du Conseil
de securiteau sujet de l'admission d'Israel a l'Or
ganisation des Nations Unies.

Parmi les declarations qui ont ete recemment
faites dans le meme sens, le Gouvernement d'Is
rael a retenu les paroles prononcees par Lord
Henderson a la Chambre des Lords, au nom du
Gouvernement du Royaume-Uni: "Tant qu'un
reglement pacifique ne sera pas intervenu entre
les ] uifs et lesArabes, on ne saura pas queUe
est la proportion de re£ugies arabes qui peuvent
etre rapatries ... mais ce qui serait plus impor
tant, ce serait d'etablir des plans constructifs a
long terme en vue de l'absorption et de la reinstal
lation sur une grande echelle de ceux qui ne peu
vent revenir a leurs anciens foyers." Lord Hen
derson a fait allusion ensuite a divers projets
d'irrigation qui permettraient de resoudre favo
rablement le probleme urgent des re£ugies de
Palestine.

A propos de ces declarations preconisant la
reinstallation I'orateur desire souligner une fois de
plus que son Gouvernement est pret a contribuer
a la solution de ce probleme dans le cadre general
d'un reglement pacifique.. .

M. Eban en vientensuite a la troisieme et der
niere question soulevee dans le preambule de la
resolution l'invitant a se presenter devant la Com
mission a savoir la question des mesures qui ont
ete prises a 'la suite de l'assassinat a J erusalem du
comte Folke Bernadotte et du colonel Andre
Serot. Un rapport a ce stijet aete soumis au Con
seil de securite1 et a ete transmis au Mh~istere

des Affaires etrangeres de Suede, a Stockholm,
par un envoye du Gouvernement israelien. Ce rap
port donnait les resultats de l'enquete de police et
de l'instruction judiciaire. M. Eban ne cache pas
que le Gouvernement et le peuple d'Israel regret
tent vivement que leur premiereannee d'existence
en tant que nation independante ait ete marquee
par un lache assassinat politique dont la victime a
ete un illustre Suedois, representant l'Organisa
tion des Nations Unies. Tous les efforts pour
retrouver les auteurs et les instigateurs de ce
crime et pour les de£erer a la justice ont ete jus
qu'ici negatifs. 11 est inutile de nier qu'il y ait la
un echec, En examinant cette deplorable situa
tion, it ne faut pas toutefois perdre de vue les
elements suivants:

1. Pendant les annees qui ont precede l'etablis
sement de l'Etat d'Israel, le terrorisme politique,
qui s'etait developpe comme une forme perni
cieuse de reaction de la population juive centre
l'ancien regime, a sevi en Palestine;

2. Aumoment de l'assassinat, l'organisation des
services de l'ordre public dans l'Etat d'Israel n'en
etait qu'a ses debuts. Les forces de police n'etaient
pas encore parvenues a un degre de preparation
et d'organisation suffisant pour faire face, avec
la rapidite et la competence voulues,a ce crime
revoltant. Des assassinats politiques se sont pro-

1 Voir 5/1315.



t
t

I ~'
'.~

3. Une situation particulierement complexe pre
valait a Jerusalem au moment de l'assassinat. En
principi, i1 Y, existait une treve, l'\lais neanmoins,
les .hostilites se poursuivaient et les forces militai
res du Gouvernement d'Israel devaient consacrer
leurs jours et leurs nuits a la surveillance des po
sitions de premiere ligne. En fait, la ville n'avait
pas encore cesse d'etre un champ de bataille;

4. Un autre facteur a encore aggrave la situa
tion et a eu des repercussions directes et fatales
sur le crime: dans la partie juive de Jerusalem
elle-meme, it existait des formations armees d'or
ganisations militaires dissidentes qui operaient ou
vertement au defi de l'autorite du Gouvernement
d'Israel, La lutte contre ces groupes irreconcilia
bles a dii ~tre poursnivie alors qu'Israel etait en
gage dans la guerrecontre ses ennemis de l'ex
terieur ; elle a ete longue et difficile. L'incident de
l'Altalena, au cours duquel les troupes regulieres
de l'armee d'Israel ont ouvert le feu contre les
dissidents et ont tue plusieurs d'entre eux, avait
mis fin a l'existence ouverte de ces groupes dans
tout Israel a l'exception de la zone de Jerusalem.
En raison de toute une serie de circonstances
echappant entierement au controle du Gouverne
ment d'Israel, la liquidation de ces organisations
militaires dissidentes a Jerusalem s'est revelee
plus difficile; I

5. En fait, au cours meme de la' semaine ou
l'assassinat s'est produit, le Gouvernement avait
decide de lancer un ultimatum enjoignant aux
groupes dissidents qui se trouvaient a Jerusalem
de se disperser et declarant qu'il emploierait, en
cas de refus, la force des armes. La gravite de 'la
situation qui se serait produite, si cet ultimatum
n'avait pas ete aecepte, est evidente. L'armee au
rait dii livrer une guerre civile a l'interieur de la
ville, au moment meme ou\elle devait repousser
les attaques incessantes sur. le perimetre de la
cite. C'est pourquoi une nouvelle tentative a ete
faite au cours de cette semaine pour rechercher
les possibilites d'une dissolution volontaires des
groupes dissidents, sans qu'il £Ut fait recours a la
menace. En fait, un ultimatum a ete lance aux
dissidents immediatement apres l'assasslnat. Le
resultat en a ete que toutes les formations militai
res dissidentes a Jerusalem ontete completement
dissoutes;

6. L'intervalle de vingt-quatre heures qui s'est
ecoule entre l'assassinat et la reduction des nids
de dissidence etait dti a la necessite d'amener
des troupes supplementaires pour cette operation,
etant donne qu'il n'etait pas possible d'utiliser
les forces engagees sur le front;

7. L'incapacite des autorites a. depister les res
ponsables de l'assassinat est due, en derniere ana
lyse, a une combinaison de deux circonstances: le
secret absolu dont s'etait entoure le groupe, ap
pare1?ment .restreint, qui avait projete et commis
le crime, et l'absence de tous renseignements pre
cis qui auraient amene a l'identification des cou
pables.

duits dans nombre de pays OU l'autorite est bien
etablie, et le representant de l'Egypte 'lui-meme
pourrait facilement confirmer ce fait. Israel s'est
trouve place devant cette situation critique au mo
ment ou ses forces civiles et militaires du main
tien de I'ordre n'existaient que depuis quelques
mois et avaient a faire face au chaos et a la
guerre;

244

6. The interval of twenty-four hours which had
elapsed between the assassination and the round
ing up of the dissident strongholds had been due
to the need to bring in additional troops for that
operation as it had been impossible to spare the
forces engaged in active defence duties. .

7. The inability of the authorities to track down
those responsible for the assassination had been
due in the last analysis to a combination of two
cir~~ms~nces: the high degree of conspiracy pre
vailing m the apparently small group which had
planned and executed the crime, and the absence
of any exact information which would have led
to the identification of the culprits.

3. A situation of particular complexity had
existed in Jerusalem at the time of the murder.
Despite a supposed state of truce, hostilities had
been continuous and the military forces of the
Israeli Government had been absorbed day and
night in watching forward positions. The city in
fact had not yet ceased to be a battlefront;

had occurred in many countries of well-established
authority, which could be easily confirmed by the
representative of Egypt himself. Israel had been
faced with that emergency when its security
forces, civil and military, were only a few months
old and were engulfed in chaos and war;

'..'.... ,

5. Actually, during the very week in which the
assassination had occurred, the Government had
.resolved upon .an ultimatum calling on the dis
sident groups in Jerusalem to disband and threat..
eningthe use of military force in case of refusal.
The gravity of the situation which would have
arisen had that ultimatum been defied was obvi
ous: the army would have had to fight a civil war
inside the city.whilst at the same time being en
gaged in repelling unceasing attacks on its perim
eter. For that reason a renewed attempt had been
made during that week to explore the possibility
of the voluntary dissolution of the dissident groups
without resort to threats. In fact an ultimatum
had been served to the dissidents immediately
'after the assassination with the result that the
dissident military units in Jerusalem had been
completely disbanded;

4. Another aggravating feature of the situation,
which had had a direct and fateful bearing on the
crime, had been the existence within Jewish Jeru
salem itself of armed units 'of dissident military
organizations operating in wanton and open defi
ance of the authority of the Israeli Government.
The struggle. against those intractable groups
carried on in the midst of war against Israel's
external enemies had been prolonged and diffi
.cult. The Altalena incident, in which regular
troops of the Israeli Army had opened fire and
'had inflicted fatal casualties on the 'dissidents, had
put an end to the open existence of such groups
throughout Israel with the exception of the Jeru
.salem area. Owing to a variety of circumstances
.outside the control of the Israeli Government, the
liquidation of the dissident military organizations
in that city had proved more difficult; .



: bien
meme

s'est
.t mo
main
elques
a la

e pre
it, En
noins,
iilitai
sacrer
es po
r'avait...,
situa
ratales
isalem
i d'or
nt ou
ement
ncilia
lit en
~. l'ex
ent de
.t1ieres
:re les
, avait
s dans
salem.
tances
verne
sations
'evelee

[ne ou
: avait
It aux
usalem
ait, en
; de 'la
matum
lee au
r de la
iousser

de la
~ a ete
iercher
es des
irs a la,
ce aux
iat, Le
militai
:tement

Lii s'est
es nids
amener
~ration,

'utiliser

les res
:re ana
tces : le
pe, ap
commis
Its pre
es cou-

Nevertheless, the Government .of Israel by no
means regarded the assassination as a closed chap
ter and would continue to make all possible efforts
to discover and punish the assassins.

The Government and people of Israel were
deeply grieved that Sweden, to whom the Jewish
people was much indebted both for help to vic
tims of Nazi persecution and for its contribution
to the establishment of the State of Israel, should
have lost so illustrious a representative as the
late Count. Bernadotte, as the result of a wanton
assassination perpetrated in a jewish-controlled
area..

Mr. Eban did not conceal from the Committee
that the Government of Israel regarded that event
with a deep sense of failure. That failure how
ever could not be ascribed to any lack of will to
succeed. For weeks on end it had been the major
task of hundreds of men both in the police and
the military services, to devote themselves unre
mittingly to a search for the assassins. In the pro
ceedings that had eventually taken place in court,
it would obviously have been wrong for consci
entious judges to have relied on anything but the
most cogent evidence.

While admitting that failure had. been reported
in the functioning of its security system in the
past, the Government of Israel could not admit
that any conclusions could be drawn from that
event with respect to its present capacity to fulfill
its international obligations. It had not applied for
membership in the United Nations until it had
been satisfied that it had overcome all the natural
sources of internal weakness and dissidence which
might hamper a democratic Government in the
exercise of its international obligations. Conse
quently, while submitting that report in all frank
ness, the Israeli Government did not admit that
it should be allowed to have a bearing on the
Security Council's recommendation for Israel's
admission, a recommendation which had been
made in full knowledge of the above evidence.

Referring to Arab opposition to the application
.of !srael, Mr. Eban stated that the Arab States
which now advocated compliance with General
.Assembly resolutions had in the past assaulted
the very foundations of the United Nations by
:att~mptll)g to overthrow a General Assembly reso
.lutl?n by f~rce. The threats they had uttered in
various bodies of the United Nations and which
~had been translated in destruction and slaughter,
had rested upon the doctrine of the optional char
acter of the resolutions of the General Assembly.
'00 24 Februa", 1948 the representative of Syria
.1~ad said that "In the first place, the recommenda
nons of the General Assembly are not imperative
O!l those to whom they are addressed" . . ..The
'(Jen~ra:l Assembly. "only gives advice, and the
parties to whom the advice is addressed accept
l~ • • • ,~hen it does not impair their fundamental
~Ights. On .19 March 1948, he had said that

not every State which does not apply, obey or
~xecute such recommendations would be breaking
Its pledges to the Charter"," The representative
of. Eg!pt had made that theory his own and had
said It was his country's privilege under the

:1 See S/P'v.254.
:I See SIP.Y,21.o..

Neanmoins, le Gouvernemenrd'Israel ne con
sidere en aucune facon que l'assassinat soit une
affaire classee, et il continuera a faire tous ses
efforts pour decouvrir et pour punir les assassins.

Le Gouvernement et le peuple d'Israel sont
profondement peines que la Suede, a laquelle le
peuple juif doit tant pour l'aide qu'elle a fournie
aux victimes de la persecution nazie et pour sa
collaboration a l'etablissement de I'Etat d'Israel,
ait perdu un representant aussi eminent, it la suite
d'un crime abominable commis dans une region
placee sous le controle juif.

M. Eban ne cache pas it la Commission que le
Gouvernement d'Israel considere qu'il a subi, it
propos de cette enquete, un grave echec. Cet echec
ne peut cependant etre attribue it un manque de
volonte de reussir, Pendant des semaines entieres,
des centaines d'hommes appartenant it la police
ou a l'armee se sont consacres sans relache it la
recherche des assassins. Au cours de l'instruction,
les juges consciencieux n'ont manifestement pu se
fonder sur autre chose que des preuves absolu
ment convaincantes.

Tout en reconnaissant que son systeme de main
tien de l'ordre public ait ,echoue dans ce cas, le
Gouvernement d'Israel ne saurait cependant ad
mettre que l'on puisse tirer des conclusions de cet
evenement, en ce qui concerne sa capacite de
s'acquitter actuellement de ses obligations inter
nationales. 11 n'a demande it etre admis a 1'01'
ganisation des Nations Unies que lorsqu'il a ete
convaincu qu'il avait surmonte routes les causes
naturelles de faiblesse interieure et de dissidence
qui pourraient empecher un Gouvernement demo
cratique de remplir ses obligations internationales.
En consequ~nce, tout en presentant ce 'rapport en
toute franchise, le Gouvernement d'Israel n'admet
pas qu'il puisse influencer la recommandation du
Conseil de securite relative it I'admission d'Israel
recommandation qui a ete formulee en pleine con~
naissance du temoignage qui precede.

A propos de l'opposition arabe it la demande
d'admission d'Israel, M. Eban 'declare que les
Etats arabes qui preconisent maintenant l'observa
tion des resolutions 'd,e l'Assemblee generale ont,
dans le passe, attaque les fondements memes de
l'Organisation des Nations Unies en essayant de
s'opposer par la force aune resolution de l'Assem
bl~e gener~le. Les menaces qu'ils ontproferees au
s~m des ~lVers org,anes de l'Organis- n des Na
hons. Urues, et qUI se sont traduites par des des
tructl!lns et des massacres, se fondaient sur la
doctrine en vertu de laquelle les resolutions de
I'Asse~btee gene~al~ n'auraient qu'un caractere
facu.ltatlf. Le 24 {evrler 1948, le representant de la
Syrie a declare "En premier lieu, les recomman
d~ti()t,ts de l'Assemblee generale ne sont pas im
peratives pour ceux auxquels elles s'adressent "
L'Assemblee generale ne peut que donner' d~s
conseil et les parties auxquelles ces conseils sont
adresses les acceptent ... lorsqu'ils n'empietent
pas sur leurs droits fondamentauxt, Le 19 mars
19~8, le meme representant a declare: "Un Etat
qUI ne se conforme pas aces recommandations
ne viole, pas ~ar la-meme les engagements qU'ii
a assumes en slgnant la Charte''." Le representant

:1 Voir S/P.V.254.
I Voir S/P.V.2i'O.



246

de l'Egypte a fait sienne cette theorie et a declare
que son pays avait, de par la Charte, le droit de
ne pas se conformer ala resolution de l'Assemblee
generale concernant la Palestine.

Un tel defi aurait suffi a enlever aux Etats
arabes le droit de disserter sur le caractere obliga
toire des resolutions de l'Assemblee generale, Or,
ces Etats ont pousse le defi plus loin encore; en
effet, its ont pris les armes pour faire echec, par
la force, a la resolution, apres avoir constam:ment
refuse de cesser le feu, malgre les ordres du Con
seil de securite. Ainsi, les seulsEtats que le Con
seil de securite ait jamais declares coupables d'une
menace a la paix, aux termes du Chapitre VII de
la Charte, se presentent maintenant comme le's
juges desinteresses de l'Etat meme qui devait etre
leur victime, lorsque cet Etat tente de s'assurer
modestement l'egalite dans la communaute des
nations.

Sans vouloir discuter jusqu'a que1 point une
resolution de l'Assemblee generale a. un caractere
obligatoire, en soi, le representant d'Israel se
declare persuade qu'il y a tres loin du droit d'un
Etat a faire appel d'une resolution ou a chercher
a faire reviser cette resolution, au recours it la
violence par les armes, Le Gouvernement d'Israel
ne se rangera jamais parmi ceux qui, enlevant aux
resolutions de l'Assemblee generale toute autorite
morale, sacrifieront les restrictions prevues par
le droit international sur I'autel de la souverainete
totale. Il est permis de reviser une resolution ou
une ligne de conduite ou meme d'y fairc opposi
tion, mais certainement pas par l'emploi de la
force. L'Organisation des Nations Vnies a rem
porte une victoire eclatante, le jour oil le premiere
tentative faite pour saboter par la force la solution
souhaitee par l'Assemblee generale, a manque son
but. C'est ainsi qu'Israel.en affirmant son exis
tence en tant qu'Etat, s'est fait le defenseur de
l'autorite internationale supreme.

Israel est uni a l'Organisation des Nations
Vnies et a la Charte par de nombreux liens. Les
doctrines de la Charte, qui reposent sur des es
poirs de fraternite internationale, ont 'ete leguees
a la civilisation moderne par les ecrits prophe
tiques d'Israel dans lesquels se trouve exprime
le desir profond de l'humanite qui aspire a une
ere oil "les nations ne leveront plus l'epee les
unes contre les autres et ne connaitront plus la
guerre". Dans l'esprit d'un grand nombre d'his
toriens contemporains, Israel represente, dans la
vie du Proche-Orient, I'etement moderne qui lutte
dans le sens du progres, par le moyen de la tech
nologie et de la science modernes. D'autre part le
sentiment qu'a Israel du lien qui l'unit aux tradi
tions de son passe influe non moins puissamment
sur la vie de la nouvelle republique.

Outre ces affinites historiques entre les ideaux
d'Israel et les notions 9-ui sont ala base meme.de
la Charte, Israel est lie a l'Organisation des Na
tions Unies par une experience plus recente de
buts et d'efforts communs. Israel est le seul Etat
au monde qui ait surgi al'appel de la communaute
internationale. Le peuple d'Israel a perdu six
millions de ses fils pour la cause meme que les
Nations Vnies ont defendue victorieusement con
tre le despotisme nazi, et la lutte qu'Israel a me
nee pour son existence meme s'est poursuivie pa
rallelement aux efforts plus efficaces de l'Organi
sation des Nations Unies pour resoudre un conflit
international. par les moyens du jugement, de la
mediation et de la conciliation. Ce serait un para-

Such defiance alone would have been sufficient
to disqualify Arab States from discoursing on the
binding force of General Assembly resolutions.
Their defiance, however, had gone further and
they .had taken up arms to overthrow a resolution
by force, after which they had persistently refused
to cease fighting when ordered to do so by the
Security Council. The only States ever described
by the Security Council as having ,caused a threat
to the peace under Chapter VII of the Charter
were now posing as the disinterested judges of
their own intended victim in his efforts to secure
a modest equality in the family of nations.

Without wishing to discuss the exact degree of
legal compulsion inherent in a General Assembly
resolution, he felt certain that the right ef a State
to appeal against the resolution or to seek its
revision fell very far short of armed violence. The
Government of Israel would never be among those
who, by depriving General Assembly resolutions
of all compelling moral force, would sacrifice the
restraints of international law upon the altar of
undiluted sovereignty. A resolution or a policy
could' be revised and even opposed, but certainly
not by the' use of force. It had been a signal vic
tory for the United Nations when the first forcible
attempt to sabotage a solution desired by the
General Assembly had failed in its objective.
Thus, in assuring its own establishment and sur
vival, Israel had vindicated the supreme interna
tional authority.

Charter not to comply with the General Assembly
resolution on Palestine.

Israel was bound to the United Nations and its
Charter by many links of peculiar intimacy and
strength. The doctrines of the Charter founded
on the hopes of international brotherhood had
been bequeathed to modern civilization by Israel's
prophetic writings expressing the longing of man
kind for an era when "nations shall not lift up the
sword against nation nor shall they know war any
more". In the minds of many contemporary his
torians, Israel represented the modern element in
Near Eastern life striving for progress by the
results of modern technology and science. On the
other hand, no less potent an influence in the
life of the new republic was its sense of continuous
association with the traditions of Israel's past.

In addition to that deep historic affinity be
tween Israel's ideals and the basic concepts of the
Charter, there was a more recent experience of
common interest and endeavor, Israel was the
only .State in the world which had sprung into
existence at the summons of the international com
munity. The people of Israel had lost six million
of its sons in the cause of the victorious United
Nations struggle against Nazi despotism, and its
battle for sheer survival had gone hand in hand
with the most successful effort of the United
Nations to solve an international conflict by judg
ment, mediation and conciliation. It would be an
extraordinary paradox if the V nited Nations were
to close its doors upon the State which it had



declare
droit de
semblee

K Etats
~ obliga
ale. Or,
:ore; en
nee, par
amment
du Con-
le Con
es d'une
VII de

nme les
~ait etre
'assurer
ute des

lint une
aractere
srael se
oit d'un
ehercher
irs it la
d'Israel
'ant aux
autorite
ues par
erainete
ition ou.
OppOS1-

,i de la
a rem

iremiere
solution
lqUe s?n
m eX1S
.seur de

Nations
ens, Les
des es
ieguees

prophe-
exprime
e a une
~pee les
plus la

'e d'his
dans la
~ui lutte
la tech
e part le
IX tradi
iamment

'd'; 1 eaux.
tleme'de
des Na
:ente de
eul Etat
nunaute
.rdu six
que les

ent con
H a me
tivie pa
'Organi
n conftit
it, de la
~n para-

:;::

I
·~·'·' .

.;:

~-{

'-,

:~'~;
;'~
e

helped to quicken into active life. The decision
of the United Nations on that question would
.affect the prospects of peace and the future au
thority of the United Nations in the solution of
out.standing problems. Nothing could be more
prejudicial to the prospects of conciliation and
peace than any doubts regarding Israel's inter
national status.

The time had come for the United Nations, if
it wished Israel to bear the heavy burden of
Charter obligations, to confer upon Israel the
protection and status of the Charter. Israel and the
Arab States had sent delegations to Lausanne in
what Israel regarded as an endeavour to conclude
final peace. One party was represented by six
members with a powerful capacity to influence the
decisions of the Assembly, while the other had
no standing whatever in the Organization. That
position was most unjust. At every stage of its
checkered relations with the Arab world, Israel
had felt equality of status to be the essential con
dition of partnership. Until the scars of conflict
were healed and Israel became integrated with its
immediate world, the United Nations might be the
only forum in which it could sit as a colleague
and partner of its neighbouring States in the
transaction of international business and in the
paths of social and economic co-operation.

The Arabs could not be logically expected to
recognize Israel if the United Nations hesitated
to do so itself. The Committee should not delay
the decisive moment when the Arab world would
recognize Israel as a partner in its destiny and in
the progress of Asia. The foundations of peace
were not so strong as to withstand easily another
unnecessary period of juridical uncertainty and
strife. The problems of Jerusalem and the Arab
refugees could only be solved within tlie United
Nations-formal links between the United Na
tions and Israel would make it easier to reach the
desired solutions. The provisions of Article 4 of
the Charter were thus reinforced by unique con
siderations of history and sentiment, practical
statesmanship, equity and deep concern for an
immediate prospect of. stability which, if sur
.rendered; might not easily recur.

}

He had tried without obscuring honest diffi
culties and differences to reassure the Committee
on the basic issue of Israel's good-will. He could
now do no more. Whatever intellectual and spir
itual forces Israel evoked anywhere in the world
were at the service of the United Nations. What
.ever happened, Israel would dedicate itself to the
ideals .of peace, national independence, social
,progress, democracy, and cultural ,dynamism.
With its many imperfections, but perhaps also
'with a few virtues, Israel offered itself to the

doxe inoui, si l'Organisation des Nations Unies
fermait ses portes a l'Etat meme qu'elle a contri
bue a eveiller a la vie. La decision de l'Organisa
tion des Nations Unies sur ce point aura des
repercussions sur les perspectives de paix, ainsi
que sur l'autorite dont elle disposera dans l'avenir
pour resoudre les problemes en suspenso Rien ne
pourrait nuire davantage aux perspectives de con
ciliation et de paix que de laisser planer des dou
tes sur le statut international d'Israel,

Le moment est venu ou l'Organisation des Na
tions Unies, si eUe desire qu'Israel se charge du
fardeau tres lourd que constituent les obligations
de la Charte, doit reconnaitre a cet Etat la pro
tection et le statut prevus par la Charte, Israel
et les Etats arabes ont envoye une delegation a
Lausanne pour participer ace qu'Israel considere
comme un effort en vue de conclure une paix
definitive. L'une des parties est representee par
six membres qui peuvent puissamment influer sur
les decisions de l'Assemblee, alors que l'autre n'a
pas de position officieUe au sein de cette Organi
sation.Cette situation est extremement injuste.
Dans ses relations mouvementees avec le monde
arabe, Israel s'esi rendu compte, a chaque pas,
qu'il ne peut y avoir de veritable association que
si les parties possedent un statut egal, Tant que
les traces laissees par le conflit n'auront pas dis
paru, tant qu'Israel ne se sera pas veritablement
integre dans cette partie du monde a laquelle it
appartient, l'Organisation des Nations Unies sera
peut-etre le seul endroit ou cet Etat pourra parti
ciper, en qualite de collegue et d'associe de ses
voisins, au reglement des affairesinternationales
et au developpement de la cooperation sociale et
economique.

On ne peut, en totute logique, s'attendre a .ce
que les Arabes reconnaissent Israel, si l'Organi
sation des Nations Unies elle-meme hesite it. le
faire, La Commission ne devrait pas retarder l'ins
tant decisi! ou le monde arabe acceptera de recon
naitre en Israel son associe, pour ce qui est de
ses propres destinees et du developpement du
continent asiatique, Les fondations de la paix ne
sont pas assez solides pour subir aisement une
nouvelle et inutile periode d'incertitude et de
desaccord sur le plan juridique. Les problemes
de Jerusalem et des refugies arabes ne peuvent
etre resolus qu'au sein de I'Organisation des Na
tions Unies, et l'etablissement de liens formeIs
entre I'Organisation des Nations Unies et Israel
ne pourrait que rendre plus facile la solution de
ces problemes. Ainsi, aux dispositions de l'Article
4 de la Charte, viennent encore s'ajouter des con
siderations exceptionnelles fondees sur l'histoire
et les sentiments dictes par le sens politique et
par la justice, ou bases sur le souci de defendre
des perspectives immediates de stabilite qui, si on
les abandonnait, pourraient ne pas se retrouver
facilement. .

M. Eban a essaye, sans dissimuler pour cela
des difficultes et des divergences de vues legitimes,
de rassurer la Commission sur la question fonda
mentale c'est-a-dire sur la bonne volonte .d'Israel,
C'est tout ce qu'il peut faire. Toute la force intel
lectuelle et spiritueUe qui peut s'attacher dans le
monde au nom d'Israel est au service de l'Organi
sation des Nations Unies. Quoiqu'il arrive, Israel
se consacrera a la defense des ideaux de paix et
d'independance nationale, de progres social, de
democratie et de dynanisme culturel. Avec ses



248

common defense of the human spirit against the
perils of international conflict and despair.

The meeting rose at 2.30 .p.m.

FORTY·SIXTH MEETING

H eldat Lake Success, New York,
on Friday, 6 May 1949, at 10.30 a.m.

Chairman: General Carlos P. ROMULO
( Philippines )

55. Applieation of Israel for admission
to membership in the United Na·
t~~ns (A/818) (continued).

The CHAIRMAN recalled that at its 44th meet
ing the Committee had adopted a decision to invite
the representative of Israel to make such state
ments and answer such questions as the Commit
tee might deem desirable before reporting to the
General Assembly on the item under considera
tion. In accordance with that decision, the repre
sentative of Israel had made a statement to the
Committee, and several delegations had signified
their desire to put questions to him.

At the invitation of the Chairman, Mr. Eban,
representatioe of Israel, took a seat at the Com
mittee table.

Mr. DROHOJOWSKI (Poland) wished to put
some questions to the representative of Israel.

A verbatim account of the questions 1-'ut by the
representatioe of Poland and of the replies given
by the representative of lsraeljoliouu.

Question: Whom is Mr. Eban representing in
this Committee?

Answer: I have been invited here as the repre
sentative of the Government of Israel.

Question: Has Mr. Eban other functions here
in the United States? .

Answer: No.

Question: Mr. Eban is representing here the
State of Israel as such, but he is not representing
-as far as I know-any specific religious de
nomination?

Answer: That is so; I represent the Govern
ment of Israel alone.

Question: Mr. Eban is, however, no doubt
familiar with the relations between the State of
Israel and groups of various religious denomina
tions in the State of Israel?

Answer: The State of Israel contains a 'great
variety of religious groups. The Government of
Israel represents them all. In addition, the Gov
ernment .of Israel is. in contact and in negotiation
with representatives of world religious authorities
who have their representatives in the territory of
Palestine.

nombreuses imperfections; peut-etre aussi avec
quelques vertus, Israel offre son concours pour
la defense commune de I'esprit humain contre les
dangers de conflits internationaux et contre le
desespoir.

La seance est levee it 14 h. 30.

QUARANTE.SIXIEME SEANCE

Tenue a Lake SUCC(!SS, New-York,
le uendredi 6 mal 1949, a10 h. 30.

Pre$ident: Le general Carlos P. ROMULO
(Philippines) .

55. Demande d'admission d'IsraeI a
l'Organisation des Nations Unies
(A/SI8) (suite)

Le PRESIDENT rappelle que, it. sa 44eme seance,
la Commission a decide d'inviter le representant
d'Israel a. faire telles declarations et a. repondre a
teUes questions que la Commission pourrait juger
utiles avant de faire rapport a l'Assemblee generale
sur la question dont elle est saisie. Conforrnernent
acette decision, le representant d'Israel a fait une
declaration devant la Commission, et plusieurs de
legations ont fait savoir qu'elles desiraient lui poser
des questions.

Sur l'invitation du President, M. Ebtm, repre
sentant d'[srael, prend place a.la table de la ·Com
mission.

M. DROHOJOWSKI (Pologne) desire poser quel
ques questions au representant d'Israel.

On trouuera cl-dessous une traduction du
compte rendu stimographique des questions posies
par le representant de la· Pologne et des reponses
donnees par le representant d' Israel.

Question: Qui M. Eban represente-t-il devant
la Commission? '

Reponse: J'aiete invite id en tant que repre
sentant du Gouvernement d'Israel,

Question: M. Eban remplit-il d'autres fonc
tions aux Etats-Unis?

Reponse: Non.

Question: M. Eban represente ici l'Etat d'Israel
en tant que tel, mais it ne represente pas, que je

I sache, une confession religieuse deterrninee ?

Reponse: C'est exact; je represente seulement
le Gouvernement d'Israel.

Question: Je ne doute pas, cependant, que M.
Eban ne soit au courant des relations entre l'Etat
d'Israel et les groupes qui, dans cet Etat, appar
tiennent aux differentes confessions religieuses?

Reponse: L'Etat d'Israel contient un grand
nombre de groupes religieux differents, Le Gou
vernement d'Israel est en contact et poursuit des
negociations avec des representants des autorites
religieuses du monde ender qui ont des repre
sentants en territoire palestinien.




